
JFK?
BY GAEFON POINZI

There Were Two Conspiracies in the Kennedy Assassination: 
The First Was to Murder the President. The Second Was to 
Pretend There Was a Full and Complete Investigation.
This Is the Story of Government Investigator Gaeton Fonzi 
and His Three-Year Search for the Truth, His Efforts to 
Track Down a Mysterious American Spymaster Seen in Dallas 
with Lee Harvey Oswald in September 1963, His Work for the 
House Assassinations Committee That Was Supposed to 
Tell the American People What Really Happened 
on November 22, 1963.
Fed Up with the Politicizing of This Last Investigation,
He Breaks His Oath of Silence to Tell What the Insiders 
Know About the Assassination of President John L. Kennedy.
It Is a Suspenseful Spy Story, It Is a Clear-Eyed Account 
of How Washington Handles Serious Issues, 
and It Is History.
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A very hot day in Dallas in the 
sum m er o f 1978. 1 could see 
the c i ty ’s 106-degree fever 
shim m ering from the gray 
macadam. 1 waited on the south curb of 

Elm Street for a break in the traffic and 
then walked out into the center lane. The 
street is not as wide as it appears in pho­
tographs. R ig h ta b o u t. . .here. I looked 
over at the grassy knoll. There was only 
a stillness there now, a breezeless se­
renity. On my right was the familiar red 
brick building, flat, hard-edged, its rows 
o f sooty windows now dull. In my mind,
I dropped into a well o f time and fell
against that instant o f history.

A man was killed here.

Here, in an explosively horrible and 
bloody moment, a m an’s life ended. That 
realization— a man was killed here— had 
been oddly removed from the whirlwind 
of activity in which I had been involved.
A man was killed here, and what had 
been going on in W ashington— all the 
officious m eetings and the political pos­
turing, all the tim e and attention devoted 
to adm inistrative procedures and organ­
izational p rocesses and form s and re­
ports, and now all the scurrying about 
in a thousand directions in the mad rush 
to produce a final report— all o f  that 
seemed detached from the reality o f a 
single fact: A man was killed here.

I had been working as an investigator

for the House Select Com m ittee on As­
sassinations for more than a year and a 
half. Now I was one o f the few inves­
tigators remaining on the staff. The rest 
had been fired after less than six months 
o f a formal investigation. And now I was
standing in Dealey Plaza, on the spot
where President John F. Kennedy was
killed on N ovem ber 22, 1963, and won­
dering what the hell had gone wrong.

1 stood in Dealey Plaza on that hot 
day in 1978 and could not help thinking 
that the powers that controlled the As­
sa ssin a tio n s C om m ittee  w ould  have 
searched m uch harder for the truth if they 
had remembered that instant o f time when 
a m an’s life ended here.

I
The Historical Imperatives

Years ago, in reviewing a book about 
the Warren Commission, author and critic 
Sylvia M eagher wrote: “ There are no 
heroes in this piece, only men who col­
laborated  actively  or passively— w ill­
fully or self-deludedly— in dirty work 
that does violence to the elem entary con­
ce p t o f  ju s t ic e  and  a ffro n ts  no rm al 
intelligence.”

it d idn ’t take long for m ost o f those 
who exam ined the 1964 report o f the 
W arren Com m ission and its volumes of 
published evidence to conclude that its 
in v estig a tio n  o f  the assass in a tio n  o f 
P residen t John F. K ennedy was d e fi­
cien t. C onsidering  the C om m ission ’s 
resources and the opportunity it had at 
the tim e to do a thorough investigation, 
its failure w as, indeed, a “ violence to 
the elem entary concept o f justice. ”  With 
its strained case for a lone-nut assassin, 
the W arren Com m ission report became 
hard for most Americans to swallow. By 
the early ’70s, polls showed that only 
a small percentage o f people still be­
lieved it. Its legacy was a nagging, burn­
ing scar on the psyche o f America.

F inally, on Septem ber 17, 1976, the 
US H ouse o f  R epresen tatives passed 
H ouse R esolution 222 , w hich es tab ­
lished a Select Com m ittee to “ conduct 
a full and com plete investigation  and 
study o f the circum stances surrounding 
the assassination and death o f President 
John F. Kennedy. . . . ”

The politicians may have given it legal 
status, but the mandate cam e from deep 
within the conscience o f  a nation fed up 
with the deceptions and confusions and 
crazy theories spawned in the wake of 
the assassination o f a President.
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W hen the House Assassinations Com ­
mittee expired more than two years later, 
it issued a report that appeared to have 
more substance and depth than the W ar­
ren C om m ission’s report.

But, like the Warren Commission, what 
the House A ssassinations Com m ittee did 
not do was “ conduct a full and com plete 
investigation.”

W hat the House A ssassinations C om ­
mittee did do about that m urder o f a 
young President in Dallas was play po­
litical gam es, W ashington-style.

On Tuesday m orning, July 17. 1979, the

chairman o f  the House Select Committee 
on Assassinations, Ohio Democrat Louis 
Stokes, called a press conference to re­
lease the Com m ittee’s final report.

The resulting front-page headline in 
the W ashington  P ost w a s  m o b s t e r s
LINKED TO JFK DEATH.

The Com m ittee’s chief counsel and 
staff director, G. Robert Blakey, wanted 
to be certain that the reporters at the press 
conference would accurately interpret the 
report’s interlinear message. “ I am now 
firmly o f  the opinion that the Mob did 
i t , ”  he told them . “ It is a h istorical 
tru th .”  Then— to use an expression pop-

Before a horrified national television audience. Jack Ruby kills Lee Harvey 
O swald and silences the man who could best have answered the still- 
unresolved questions about the Kennedy assassination.
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Dealey Plaza in Dallas: The white arrow points to the Texas School Book 
D epository, where Oswald reputedly fired the fatal shots on Novem ber 22, 
1963. Circled is the grassy knoll from which a second gunman may have 
fired the shot that blew K ennedy’s head off.

My area of 
investigation threatened 

to open more doors 
than the Committee 

cared to open. It dealt 
with a mysterious CIA 

spymaster linked to Lee 
Harvey Oswald.

ular am ong Com m ittee staffers, “ cov­
ering his ass” — he quickly added: ‘ 'This 
Com m ittee report does not say the Mob 
did it. /  said it. I think the Mob did i t .”  

I don’t know if the M ob did it, but 
I doubt it. F rom  my experience as a 
Com m ittee investigator, 1 do know this: 
The Com m ittee’s investigation was not 
adequate enough or honest enough to 
produce any firm conclusions about the 
nature o f the conspiracy to kill President 
Kennedy. To give the im pression that 
it w as is a d ec ep tio n , a p articu la rly

Ten m onths after the 1963 
assassination, the W arren  
Com m ission produced its report and 
26 accom panying volum es of 
testim ony and exhibits, much of 
which contradicted the 
C om m ission’s conclusion that 
Oswald had acted alone.

W ashington kind o f deception.
There were areas o f the C om m ittee’s 

investigation that, if  pursued, could have 
negated “ the M ob did it”  implications 
o f the C om m ittee's final report. My area
o f investigation threatened to open more
doors than the Com m ittee cared to open.
It dealt with a m ysterious CIA spymaster
linked to Lee Harvey Oswald.

W hen the C om m ittee’s report was re­
leased in the sum m er o f 1979, it was 
long overdue. After spending more than 
$5.4 million over a tw o-year period, the 
Com m ittee had legally ceased to exist 
in Decem ber 1978. At that tim e, how ­
ever, C hief Counsel Blakey w asn’t sat­
isfied with the report. He felt it had to 
be rewritten. So he had him self and a 
few staff members tem porarily attached 
to the office o f the Speaker o f the House 
for adm inistrative and pay purposes. It 
took them alm ost seven months to re­
construct a new final report.

T hat reconstruction  was necessary 
because o f evidence that em erged in the 
last days o f the C om m ittee’s life. A cous­
tics experts, analyzing a tape recording 
o f the sounds in D ealey Plaza when
Kennedy was shot, concluded that more
than one rifle had been fired.

The presence o f more than one gun­
man m eant there must have been a con­
spiracy; yet the Committee had not nailed 
down the character o f that conspiracy. 
That w asn’t good enough for Blakey. He 
had earlier determ ined he was going to 
produce an impressive document. “ This, 
I can assure you, will be the absolutely 
fina l report on the Kennedy assassina­
tio n ,”  he had told the staff. "T h is  will 
be the last investigation. A fter us, there 
a in ’t gonna be no m ore .”

Thus, he felt he had to restructure and 
weight the report toward a conspiracy 
theory. The question then became: Who 
to blam e?

In retrospect, the answer should have

seemed obvious. G. Robert Blakey was 
a 41 -year-old crim inal-law  professor and 
head o f Cornell University’s Organized 
Crime Institute when he was asked to 
take the reins o f the Assassinations Com ­
mittee. Blakey was one o f the top or­
gan ized-crim e experts in the coun try , 
was regularly  called  to testify  as an 
“ expert w itness”  in that area, and was 
a fixture at the organized-crim e seminars 
held by law-enforcem ent agencies.

As soon as he was appointed, Blakey 
drew upon his contacts in that organized- 
crim e-figh ting  fra tern ity  to select key 
senior counsels for the Com m ittee. The 
lawyer he picked to head the Kennedy 
investigation  task force w as a Texan 
named Gary Cornwell. As chief o f the 
Federal S trike Force in K ansas C ity , 
Cornwell had achieved notable trial vic­
tories against key M afia figures in the 
M idw est. W hen B lakey w as finished 
hiring, the House Assassinations Com ­
mittee was stacked to find an organized- 
crim e conspiracy in the John F. Kennedy 
assassination.

C hief Counsel Blakey also knew how 
W ashington operates. He had w orked 
not only at the Departm ent o f Justice but 
also with previous congressional com ­
mittees. He knew what the priorities of 
his job  were by W ashington standards.

The first priority, he announced in his 
inaugural address to the staff, was to 
produce a report. The second priority 
was to produce a report that looked good, 
one that appeared to be definitive and 
substantial.

The final report— 686 pages thick, with 
th irteen  volum es o f appendixes— ap­
pears to have substance. And yet it makes 
few definitive statem ents. Used in abun­
dance are such terms as “ on the basis 
o f evidence available to it”  and “ the
C om m ittee b e liev es”  and “ available
evidence does not preclude the possi­
bility”  and such words as “ probably ,”
“ most like ly ,”  “ possib ly ,”  and “ may
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The W arren Com m ission was m ade up o f the cream of the American establishm ent: from  left: form er CIA chief 
Allen Dulles, Representative Hale Boggs (Dem ocrat from Louisiana), Senator John Sherm an Cooper (Republican  
from  K entucky), Suprem e Court C hief Justice Earl W arren, Senator Richard Russell (Georgian Dem ocrat),
New York lawyer John J. M cC loy, and Representative Gerald Ford (Republican from M ichigan).

have b een .”
The point is that the Com m ittee report 

does not say that organized crim e was 
involved in the conspiracy to kill Pres­
ident K ennedy. The report says this: 
“ The Com m ittee believes, on the basis 
o f evidence available to it, that the na­
tional syndicate o f Organized Crim e, as
a group, was not involved in the assas­
sination o f  President K ennedy, but that
the available evidence does not preclude
the possibility that individual members
may have been involved .”

The latter part o f  that conclusion re­
ferred to  two key M ob bosses: Carlos 
M arcello  o f  N ew  O rleans and Santos 
Trafficante of Florida. (Lee Harvey O s­
w a ld ’s uncle , the C om m ittee d iscov ­
ered, was a num bers runner for the M ar­
cello organization, and Jack Ruby may 
have had some contact with Trafficante 
in Cuba.)

H owever, after m aking that allegation 
in its “ Sum m ary o f Findings and Rec­
om m endations,”  the report in its body 
says “ it is unlikely”  that either M arcello 
or Trafficante was involved in the as­
sassination o f the President.

That is an exam ple o f the contradic­
tions in the report. A nother o f the re­
port’s key conflicts cam e from B lakey’s 
insistence that the Com m ittee com e to 
some conclusion about O sw ald’s m oti­
vation. But like the W arren Com m is­
sion, the Com m ittee never did define 
who Osw ald really w as, what he really 
believed, the nature o f  his relationships 
with an odd assortm ent o f people, the 
reasons for some of the mysterious things 
he did, or why there are no traces o f his 
actions over certain periods o f tim e. The 
Com m ittee, because o f its limited in­
vestigative plan, did very little original
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work in this area.
A fter an inadequate investiga tion , 

Blakey swept aside the objections o f his 
s ta ff  and insisted  that the C om m ittee 
conclude that O sw ald  killed K ennedy 
because o f left-wing motivations.

Then, when a conspiracy explanation 
was needed, Blakey contended that O s­
wald had been a tool o f  organized crime. 
Thus the largest num ber o f pages in the 
C om m ittee’s final report was devoted to 
building a conspiracy case against the 
Mob.

But in order to create the impression 
that organized crim e was involved, the 
C om m ittee had to con trad ict its own 
staff’s findings concerning the Central 
Intelligence Agency.

I spent a large part o f three years delv­
ing into that area o f evidence. For his­
tory’s sake, the questions raised by the 
evidence deserve to be fully defined and 
honestly explained.

I can still hear the sound o f V incent Sal- 
andria’s voice, with its low, velvet in­
tensity. He was leaning back in his chair, 
his hands c lasp e d  beh ind  his head , 
speaking slowly. We were in the paneled 
basem ent office o f  his home in Phila­
delphia. It was late in 1964, and what 
Vincent Salandria was telling me was 
that the W arren Com m ission report was 
not the truth.

1 thought he was crazy. You have to 
rem em ber what a discordant thing it was 
in 1964 to hear that an official govern­
ment report might be wrong— especially 
a weighty one issued by a panel o f men 
of public stature. People then believed
what governm ent leaders said. If a guy
like Salandria cam e along and suggested
that this kind of government report wasn’t

truthful . . . well, Salandria was crazy.
A fter the Warren Com mission report 

was released in Septem ber 1964, Sal­
andria had written a critique o f it for the 
Legal Intelligencer, Philadelphia’s legal 
newspaper. Salandria was then a 38-year- 
old Penn Law graduate and ACLU con­
sultant. His critique was a detailed anal­
ysis o f  the W arren report’s findings on 
the trajectories and ballistics o f the bul­
lets that killed President Kennedy. The 
first tim e I read S alan d ria ’s article , I 
d idn’t understand it. It was com plex and 
technical. But I did grasp Salandria’s 
contention that the W arren Com mission 
report m ight be wrong.

I w rote an article  fo r P hiladelphia  
m agazine about this oddball young at­
torney who was saying these crazy things 
about our governm ent. Salandria said his 
interest in the W arren Com mission had 
begun long before its report was issued. 
“ If this had happened in Smolensk or 
M in sk  o r  M o s c o w ,”  he sa id , “ no 
American would have believed the story 
that was evolving about a single assas­
sin, with all its built-in contradictions. 
But because it happened in Dallas, too 
many Americans were accepting i t .”

Salandria began a watch o f  the Warren 
Com m ission’s activities. He spent his 
vacations in Dallas to familiarize him self 
with the m urder scene. He ordered the 
Com m ission’s report and its accom pa­
nying 26 volumes o f evidence as soon 
as they were issued and plunged into a 
page-by-page study.

“ My initial feeling ,”  Salandria said, 
“ was that if this were a simple assas­
s ina tion , as the W arren C om m ission 
claim ed, the facts would com e together 
very neatly. If there were more than one 
assassin, the details would not f it .”
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Salandria said the details did not fit. 
T here w ere, he con tended , co n trad ic­
tions between the Com m ission’s conclu­
sions and the details o f the evidence in 
the 26 volum es. Salandria gave me a 
copy o f the W arren report and the 26 
volumes and suggested I take the time 
to study them carefully. I did, and was 
surprised to discover he was right.

Salandria becam e one of the pioneers 
in the burgeoning  num ber o f  W arren 
Com m ission critics. He was one o f the 
few who never com m ercialized his re­
search. And, over the years, as he con­
tinued analyzing new evidence, he went 
beyond critic ism  and began to reach 
theoretical conclusions about the nature 
o f the assassination itself. He was the 
first to suggest that details o f the evi­
dence indicated not only a conspiracy 
but also the pattern of an intelligence 
operation . T h a t’s w hen a young co l­
umnist named Joe McGinniss wrote about 
Salandria in the Philadelphia Inquirer. 
M cGinniss thought Salandria was crazy.

I left Philadelphia in 1972 to live in Flor-

“ All the critics were 
misled very early. We 
spent too much time 

analyzing the details of 
the assassination when 

all the time it was 
obvious that 

it was a conspiracy.”

ida and, by late 1975, when I began 
working as a governm ent investigator on 
the K ennedy assassination , I had not 
spoken with Vince Salandria for years. 
He had faded into the background among 
W arren Com m ission critics.

1 returned to Philadelphia because I 
wanted to draw upon Salandria's knowl­
edge of the evidence and get his opinion 
on fruitful areas of investigation. Sal­
andria was cordial, said he would be glad 
to help, and we spent a long w inter Sun­
day talking. Yet in his attitude I sensed 
a feeling o f disappointm ent in what I 
was about to begin. Eventually, he ex­
plained it and why he was no longer 
pursuing an investigation o f the assas­
sination.

“ I ’m afraid we were m isled ,”  Sal­
andria said. “ All the critics, m yself in­
cluded, were m isled very early. 1 see 
that now. W e spent too much time and 
effort analyzing the details o f the assas­
sination when all the time it was ob­
vious, it was blatantly obvious, that it 
was a conspiracy.

“ The tyranny o f pow er is here. We 
are controlled by multinational forces. 
I suggest to you, my friend, that the 
interests o f those who killed Kennedy

now transcend national boundaries and 
national priorities.

“ We must not waste any m ore time 
m icro-analyzing  the ev idence. T h a t’s 
exactly what they want us to do. They 
have kept us busy for so long. And I will 
bet that is what will happen to you. They’ll 
keep you very, very busy and eventually 
they’ll wear you do w n .”

It had been alm ost ten years since the 
time I first interviewed Salandria. Flying 
back hom e to Miami that evening, I sat 
in the dark plane and brooded. As when 
1 first spoke with him , 1 d idn’t quite 
grasp what he was talking about, but had 
the uneasy feeling he was advancing some 
awesomely frightening theories. It crossed 
my mind that this tim e for sure Salandria 
was crazy.

That was late N ovem ber o f 1975. A few 
weeks earlier, I had received a call at 
my home in M iami from Senator Richard 
S. Schweiker o f Pennsylvania. I had never 
met Schweiker, but I had spoken with 
his adm inistrative assistant, Dave New- 
hall, a few tim es. N ew hall, a former 
newspaper reporter, was fam iliar with 
my early interest in the Kennedy assas­
s in a tio n  an d  th o u g h t I m ig h t h e lp  
S ch w eik e r check  o u t som e leads in 
M iam i’s Cuban exile com m unity.

At the tim e, Schw eiker was a m em ber 
o f the Select Com m ittee to Study G ov­
ernm ental O perations w ith R espect to 
Intelligence Activities, headed by Idaho 
S en ato r F rank  C h u rch . T he C hurch  
Com m ittee, as it becam e know n, had 
been m aking headlines since early 1975 
by revealing how the FBI abused its power 
by harassing dissident political groups 
and conducting illegal investigations; how 
the C IA , A rm y In te lligence, and the 
National Security Agency were involved 
in dom estic snooping; and how the in­
telligence agencies had planned assas­
sination attem pts on foreign leaders. For 
Schw eiker, despite his long service in 
both houses o f Congress, these were rev­
elations. “ I’ve learned more about the 
inner w orkings o f governm ent in the past 
nine months than in my fifteen previous 
years in C ongress,”  he said.

Schw eiker had never been moved to 
take a special interest in the details o f 
the Kennedy assassination. He had as­
sum ed, as did m ost A m ericans, that the 
W arren Com m ission report reflected a 
com prehensive, objective investigation. 
He had never been inclined to question 
the report because that inclination would 
have had to include the assum ption that 
governm ent officials and agencies could 
have been involved in— at the very least—  
a cover-up. Schw eiker did not want to 
believe that. H ow ever, when the Church 
Com m ittee discovered that United States 
governm ent officials— specifically CIA 
agents— had m ade alliances w ith the 
M afia and other m em bers o f organized 
c r im e  in  p la n n in g  a s s a s s in a t io n s ,  
Schw eiker was shaken. “ That was so 
repugnant and shocking to me that I did 
a backflip on any num ber o f th ings,”  
he recalled.

One o f the backflips included his old

assum ption about the va lid ity  o f  the 
W arren Com mission report. It was par­
ticularly upsetting to Schw eiker when 
he discovered that CIA D irector Allen 
Dulles had been aware o f CIA assassi­
nation plots against Cuban Prem ier Fidel 
Castro and yet had withheld that infor­
mation from  his fellow members on the 
W arren Com m ission.

W hile the S enate  and the C hurch  
Com m ittee took their sum m er vacations, 
Schw eiker spent most o f his time sifting 
through the volum es o f  evidence and the 
available agency docum ents relating to 
the m urder o f  John F. Kennedy. Then, 
in Septem ber, he issued a public state­
ment calling for a reopening o f the K en­
nedy assassination investigation.

Schw eiker felt the Church Com mittee 
could, in keeping within its mandate, 
focus initially on the role o f US intel­
ligence agencies in investigating the as­
sassination. “ W e don’t know what hap­
p ened ,”  Schw eiker concluded from his 
study o f  the case , “ but we do know 
O sw ald had in te lligence connections. 
Everyw here you look with him , there

“ We don’t know what 
happened,” Schweiker 

concluded from his 
study of the Kennedy 

case, “ but we do know 
that Oswald had 

intelligence connections. 
Everywhere you look 

with him there are the 
fingerprints 

of intelligence.”

are the fingerprints o f  intelligence.”
The Church Com m ittee was one o f  the 

larger select com m ittees form ed by the 
Senate. It em ployed more than 100 full­
tim e staffers, mostly attorneys. Its m an­
date, how ever, was broad. It was to in­
vestigate all illegal dom estic intelligence 
and counterintelligence activities on the 
part o f the CIA , the FBI, and the military 
intelligence agencies.

T he C hurch  C om m ittee  had been 
formed in January 1975, and its report 
was scheduled for release by that Sep­
tem ber. That m eant that the report had 
to be, considering the Committee’s broad 
m andate , a p redeterm ined  exercise in 
s u p e r f ic ia l i ty .  T o  C h a irm a n  F rank  
Church, it was im portant that the C om ­
mittee finish its work quickly. He had 
already told intim ates that he was going 
to run for the presidency but said he 
would announce it only after the C om ­
mittee finished its final report.

Despite the pressure from Church to 
finish in Septem ber, the Com m ittee staff 
got its deadline extended to M arch 5, 
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1976. Then Schweiker cam e up with his 
proposal to throw the Kennedy assas­
sination into the investigative pot. That 
upset Church. He knew that looking into 
the Kennedy assassination, even from 
the focus o f  its relationship to the intel­
ligence agencies, could extend the Com ­
m ittee's work for months and months. 
Church, how ever, did not want to op­
pose the suggestion publicly, so he came 
up with a com prom ise. He said he would 
p erm it S ch w eik e r and a D em ocratic  
counterpart, Colorado Senator Gary Hart, 
to set up a two-man Kennedy assassi­
nation subcom m ittee, provided that it, 
too, would wrap up its work when the 
Com m ittee finished in March.

Schw eiker w asn’t happy with the lim ­
itations but decided to take what he could 
get. He figured that if he could develop 
enough solid information or stumble upon 
a new revelation, the Com m ittee as a 
whole could then be pressured into tack­
ling the Kennedy assassination, regard­
less o f deadlines. Schweiker jum ped in 
with both feet. Because Church said he 
could spare only two m em bers o f  the 
C om m ittee s ta ff  fo r S chw eiker’s sub ­
com m ittee— he would get more later as 
the Com m ittee wound up its individual 
projects— Schw eiker geared up his own

Although Kennedy was 
murdered in Dallas, a 
rash of leads and tips 

relating to Miami 
popped up within hours 

of the assassination.

personal staff for a Kennedy inquiry.
Schw eiker had his operation going for 

about a month before he called me. A l­
though he him self never detailed all of 
them , 1 later learned there were several 
reasons that he felt he needed an outside 
staff investigator who would report di­
rectly to him and not to the Com mittee. 
He wanted som eone who knew som e­
thing about the Kennedy case, and he 
wanted to do some original probing, not 
just work with the FBI and CIA.

Another reason Schw eiker decided to 
hire his own investigator was this: A l­
though he was struck by the newly dis­
covered evidence that K ennedy’s m urder 
might have been an act o f retaliation by 
Castro for the CIA assassination plots 
against him , Schw eiker w asn’t ready to 
rule out other possibilities. The subcom ­
mittee staff was obviously concentrating 
on the retaliation theory because, from 
the pragm atic viewpoint o f its paper in­
ves tiga tion , it was the easiest one to 
structure into a report within the time 
limitations. Yet Schw eiker was struck 
by what he term ed “ the fingerprints o f 
intelligence”  on O sw ald’s activities, as 
well as O sw ald’s associations with anti- 
162 The Washingtonian!November 1980

Castro Cubans. So while his subcom ­
mittee staff was heading down one road, 
Schw eiker wanted the opposite one also 
checked out.

F inally , there w as th is factor: A l­
though Kennedy was m urdered in D al­
las, a vast am ount o f inform ation about 
the case relates to a city 1,300 miles 
away. W ithin hours o f the assassination, 
a rash o f leads and tips related to Miami 
popped up. Schw eiker decided that if 
there w as a re la tionsh ip  betw een the 
Kennedy assassination and Castro ele­
m ents— eith er p ro-C astro  or an ti-C as­
tro— or if one o f the intelligence agen­
cies was involved, M iami was the place 
to look for clues. He decided he could 
use a man on the street in M iam i’s Little 
Havana.

I was in the right place.

Knowing som ething about Miami is im­
portant in attem pting to understand John 
F. K ennedy’s murder.

Miami Beach is an unrelated island 
strip o f high-rise condominiums, kitschly 
elegant hotels, expensive restaurants, and 
peacock tourists. But Miami—just across 
Biscayne Bay— is som ething else.

Like other big cities during the ’50s, 
Miami felt the effects o f urban sprawl 
as the white m iddle-class took o ff for 
the suburbs. And although area popu­
lation was boom ing, Miami itself was 
relatively old and few newcomers to south 
Florida wanted to move back into an 
urban environm ent— despite the fact that 
Miami really had a small-town feeling 
about it. Never blighted with high-rise 
tenem ents, Miami was a city o f streets 
lined with modest old homes o f white 
clapboard, cinderblock, or coral rock, 
rear “ Florida room s.”  and front porches. 
W ith the m iddle-class exodus and the 
deterioration o f its traditional neighbor­
hoods, the city o f M iami began more 
and more looking like a neglected waif. 
Its downtown began going downhill and 
its poor black sections like Overtown 
and Liberty City began oozing their blight 
through the rest o f the city. Despite the 
trop ical clim e, M iam i’s future w asn ’t 
sunny.

Until the Cubans came.
The first small flock came in the early 

’5 0s, the an ti-B a tis tianos, those who 
opposed  the m ilita ry  d ic ta to rsh ip  o f 
General Fulgencio Batista. A young law­
yer named Fidel Castro was among them. 
He stayed briefly and gave fiery speeches 
at an old movie theater on Flagler Street. 
A nother was the wealthy former presi­
dent, Carlos Prio, who ensconced him ­
self in an elegant home on Miami Beach 
and dispensed m illions in setting up arms 
and supply lines to the rebels while stay­
ing close to the American racketeers who 
were running the Havana gam bling ca­
sinos. Then, when it appeared that the 
end o f the Batista reign was inevitable, 
came the Batistianos  them selves and the 
nonpolitical wealthy who got out with 
their nest eggs. T hat’s when Miami first 
began to feel the tone of Cuban culture 
and social activity as the monied class 
began m oving into the business world,

setting up private clubs and restaurants.
Then, beginning on January 1, 1959, 

cam e the deluge. The seizure o f power 
by Fidel Castro wrought as profound a 
change in Miami as it did in Cuba. At 
first the flow o f exiles into the city was 
a slow stream moving through M iam i’s 
International Airport; then, as it became 
apparent that the ranting barbudo  was 
taking his country toward Com munism, 
the stream becam e a torrent.

“ They were new types o f refugees,”  
wrote reporter Haynes Johnson in a book

Within a year after 
Castro took power, 
Cuban exiles were 

arriving in Florida at a 
rate of 1,700 a week. 

And as the Cuban exile 
population grew, so did 

the presence of 
the CIA.

on the Bay o f Pigs. “ Instead o f  a home, 
they w ere seeking tem porary  asylum . 
They found it along the sandy beaches 
and curving coastline o f Florida. They 
arrived by the thousands, in small fish­
ing boats, in planes, chartered or stolen, 
and crowded into M iami. Along the bou­
levards, under the palm s, and in hotel 
lobbies, they gathered and plotted their 
counterrevolution. M iami began to take 
on the air o f  a Cuban city. Even its voice 
was changing. Stores and cafes began 
advertising in Spanish and English. New 
signs went up on the toll roads slicing 
through the city, giving instructions in 
both languages. Everyone talked of home 
only 100 miles away. And everyone talked 
about the great liberation  arm y being 
form ed in the secret camps somewhere 
far aw ay .”

And with the exiles and their passion 
for a counterrevolution came the Central 
Intelligence Agency. W ell before the US 
Embassy in Cuba closed down in Jan­
uary 1961, the CIA had stepped up its 
C uban activ ities. It had not only in ­
creased the personnel operating out o f 
the em bassy in Havana, but also placed 
covert operatives as businessm en, ranch­
ers, engineers, and journalists— among 
other covers— in o rder to recru it and 
establish liaison with anti-Castro dissi­
dents. As counterrevolutionary groups 
began to  form  w ithin C uba, the CIA 
began supplying arms and com m unica­
tions equipm ent and, for those threat­
ened with exposure, help in escaping.

W ithin a year after Castro took power, 
m ore than 100,000 C uban exiles had 
settled in and others were arriving at a 
rate o f  1,700 a week. As the Cuban exile 
population o f  Miami grew , so did the 
presence o f the CIA. Although eighteen
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Richard Bissell (right), head o f CIA covert operations, confers with Senator 
Frank Church, chairm an of the Senate Select Com m ittee on Intelligence 
Activities. Bissell was revealed during Senate hearings as a key man in the 
Bay of Pigs invasion and secret plots to assassinate Fidel Castro.

governm ent agencies dealt w ith exile 
reception, the CIA had its contacts in 
every one, including the mother agency, 
the Cuban Refugee Center. It also used 
the Immigration and Naturalization Ser­
vice to set up and maintain a debriefing 
facility  at the O pa-L ocka air base in 
northern Dade County. M ore important, 
the Agency began assigning case agents 
and keeping tabs on the many anti-Castro 
groups that had begun spreading through 
the exile community like mangrove roots. 
At one point, the Agency had a list o f 
almost 700 such groups, some o f  which 
had begun active military operations with 
CIA support. One veteran recalls that 
the boat traffic on Biscayne Bay got so 
heavy “ you needed a traffic c o p .”  It 
confused the US Coast G uard, which 
d idn’t always know whether it was chas­
ing a “ sponsored operation”  financed 
by the CIA or just “ crazy C ubans.”

The invasion o f C uba’s Bahia de C och­
inos— the Bay o f Pigs— occurred in April 
1961. It was the brainchild not o f the 
C uban ex iles but o f  the C IA . It was 
spawned at a meeting o f the A gency’s 
top brass in January 1960. Originally, 
it was not going to be a m assive oper­
ation. No more than thirty Cuban exiles 
were to be trained in Panam a to serve 
as a cadre for bands o f guerrillas re­
cruited within or infiltrated into Cuba. 
However, by the time the plan had moved 
through the A gency’s bureaucracy and 
was adopted and nurtured by its covert 
o p era tio n s c h ie f— a lan k y , s to o p e d ­
shou ldered  G ro to n -Y ale  m an nam ed 
R ichard B issell— it had grow n into a 
major project. The plan President Dwight 
E isenhow er approved in M arch 1960 
called for a “ unified”  Cuban govern­

ment in exile, a “ powerful propaganda 
offensive,”  and a large paramilitary force. 
The W hite H ouse pro ject o fficer was 
Vice President Richard Nixon.

Y ears later the Senate In telligence 
Com m ittee was to discover, from files 
voluntarily given to it by the CIA , that 
a few o f the A gency’s top officers— in­
cluding R ichard  B issell— had in that 
spring o f 1960 begun setting in motion, 
as an adjunct to the Bay o f Pigs opera­
tion, plans to assassinate Castro. The 
CIA told the com m ittee that it had been 
involved in nine Castro-assassination plots 
in all, including those with the Mafia. 
Castro him self later produced a list o f 
24 CIA plots against his life.

As soon as John F. K ennedy was 
elected President in November 1960, CIA 
Director Allen Dulles and his covert-plans 
deputy , B issell, flew  to the K ennedy 
estate in Palm Beach and sold their new 
President on the Cuban operation. They 
did not tell him that the plans had re­
cently been upgraded within the Agency 
to include an even larger paramilitary 
force and air strikes by US Navy planes.

In his recent book. Bay o f  Pigs: The 
Untold Story, Peter W yden wrote:

“ If the CIA , acting out o f control and 
independently, had not escalated its plans 
against Fidel Castro from a modest guer­
rilla operation into a full-fledged inva­
sion, President Kennedy would have suf­
fered no hum iliating, alm ost grotesque 
defea t.”

Yet despite the defeat, what the Bay 
o f Pigs plan provided was the historic 
opportun ity  for the CIA  to begin d o ­
mestic field operations on an unprece­
dented scale. For instance, although the 
main Cuban exile brigade was trained 
at a secret base in Guatem ala, other spe­

cial units were prepared within the United 
States by both military and CIA person­
nel. That was minor com pared with the 
dim ensions to which the C IA ’s presence 
in M iami grew. The A gency’s officers, 
con tract agents, inform ants, and co n ­
tacts reached into almost every area o f 
the com m unity. The Bay of Pigs inva­
sion gave birth to a special relationship 
between CIA operatives and the Cuban 
exiles. That relationship would intensify 
into a mutuality o f interests that tran­
scended presidential directives and of­
ficial United States policy.

One o f the factors that led the CIA to 
believe it could topple Castro was the 
success it had enjoyed in Guatem ala in 
1954. Using a force of only 150 exiles 
and a handful o f  W orld W ar II P-47 
fighters flown by American contract pi­
lots, the CIA brought down the Com ­
m unist-leaning Guatem alan government 
in less than a week, firing hardly a shot, 
and in sta lled  the C IA ’s hand-p icked  
leader, C astillo  A rm as. W hen covert- 
operations boss Richard Bissell was se­
lecting Agency personnel to run the Bay 
of Pigs, he told them that the plan was 
based on “ the G uatem ala scenario .”

Because o f the success o f that sce­
nario, Bissell picked its veterans for the 
Cuban operation. Named as the Agency’s 
political-liaison chief and given the job 
of bringing together M iam i’s Cuban ex­
ile groups into a united political front 
was a pipe-sm oking author o f spy thrill­
ers, E. Howard Hunt.

Among Agency personnel. Hunt had—  
and still has— a curious reputation. To 
some he is the caricature o f the Holly­
wood spy— Hunt did serve a stint as a 
Hollywood scriptwriter— given to over­
playing the cloak-and-dagger role. One
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A shadowy presence in CIA  
clandestine operations in the 1960s 
was long-tim e CIA operative and 
W atergate conspirator E. Howard  
Hunt. Hunt coordinated the 
activities o f Cuban exiles in Miami 
prior to the 1961 Bay o f Pigs 
invasion.
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“ W e are honorable m en. You will sim ply have to trust u s,”  declared 
Richard Helm s in explaining the C IA ’s refusal to cooperate during 
congressional investigations. As deputy director of the CIA in 1961, Helms 
was intim ately involved in the Bay o f Pigs and Castro-assassination plots. 
Later he was convicted of lying to Congress about the C IA ’s role in the 
overthrow o f the Chilean governm ent.

of the more earnest o f the Agency profes­
sionals liked to say that Hunt was con­
sistent in his judgment: “ Always w rong.” 
Yet down through the years and right up 
through W atergate, Hunt was chosen to 
be on the front lines o f dirty-trick op­
erations. Despite the many failures among 
those operations. H unt’s star rose. He 
remained close to the shrewdest and most 
coldly professional o f  all CIA heads: 
Richard Helms.

It d idn’t take long for Hunt to inject 
h im se lf  in to  C uban  ex ile  p o litic s  in 
M iami. W ith his faithful sidekick (and 
la ter W atergate consp ira tor) Bernard 
Barker, Hunt set up a series o f “ safe”  
houses for clandestine meetings, moved 
through the shadows o f Little Havana, 
and doled out packets o f money. (Hunt 
carried as much as $1 15,000 in his brief­
case.) A lthough Hunt attem pted to keep 
a separate identity— “ Just call me ‘Ed­
uardo ,’ ”  he told the Cubans— and tried 
to keep the source o f the funds a mystery, 
the exiles began referring to their ben­
efactor as “ Uncle S am .”

It was H unt’s job  to form La Frente, 
the coalition o f  Cuban exile groups that 
would serve as the political um brella for 
the military invasion. It was early ap­
parent, how ever, that H unt’s own right- 
wing views colored his handling o f  the 
exile groups, and he and Barker, wheel­
ing and dealing am ong the politicians, 
started as many squabbles as they m e­
diated. Im m ediately before the invasion, 
Hunt was removed— he says he quit—  
as the A gency’s political liaison because 
he w ouldn’t go along with including in 
the exile coalition a dem ocratic socialist 
nam ed M anolo Ray. Hunt called Ray a 
Com m unist.

H unt’s principal contribution to the 
Bay of Pigs invasion was his selection 
of the m ilitary brigade’s political leader, 
a fiery physician-turned-politician named 
M anuel Artime. Artim e helped stop a 
political insurrection at the exile training 
cam p. Y ears la ter he w ould becom e 
wealthy as a business partner o f former 
Nicaraguan dictator Luis Somoza. His 
relationship with Hunt would grow into 
close friendsh ip . They bought hom es 
across the street from each other in Miami 
Shores and Hunt was the godfather of 
one o f A rtim e’s children. (In 1975, an 
inform ant called the office of Senator 
Schw eiker and said that a friend o f Ar­
tim e in M exico City claim ed that Artime 
had “ guilty know ledge”  o f the Kennedy 
assassination . A rtim e, m oving in and 
out o f the country on business, could not 
be interrogated before Schw eiker’s m an­
date expired. Later, as an investigator 
for the House Assassinations Com m it­
tee, I contacted Artime to take his sworn 
statem ent. Before I could, Artime went 
into the hospital and was told he had 
cancer. Two weeks later, A rtim e died. 
He was 45.)

A nother contribu tion  Hunt m ade to 
the Bay o f Pigs operation was his help 
in selecting an old friend from the G ua­
tem ala scenario for an important Agency 
role. Pulled from his post as a covert 
operative in Havana was a tall, charm-
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ingly diffident counterintelligence ex­
pert nam ed David Atlee Phillips. Phil­
lip s  w as a fo rm e r  a c to r  an d  n e w s­
paperm an. It was Phillips’s job  to set up 
a propaganda shop, to blend the rantings 
o f the exile groups into an effective sym ­
phony, to set up broadcast stations that 
w ould rally  guerrillas w ithin C uba to 
jo in  the invaders, and to establish com ­
munication links that would trigger the 
actual invasion. Most o f all it was Phil­
l ip s ’s jo b  to  c re a te  the  w o rld w id e  
impression that the invasion was a spon­
taneous action by anti-Castro forces and 
that neither the US nor the CIA had any­
thing to do with it.

W hat went wrong at the Bay of Pigs is 
history. President Kennedy told the world 
that he assum ed “ sole responsibility”  
for the debacle. Privately, he turned to 
his special counsel, Theodore Sorensen, 
and asked: “ How could I have been so 
stupid to let them  go ahead?”  But many 
top CIA people involved in the Bay of 
Pigs felt strongly that Kennedy was re­
sponsible for its failure. There would 
have been no slaughter o f the exiles, no 
1,200 brave men captured, if Kennedy 
had not at the last moment rejected m as­
sive air support. That was the word that 
filtered down to the CIA field operatives, 
the C uban ex ile  com m unity , and the 
remnants o f the invasion brigade. It pro­
duced bitterness at every level.

Agency operatives who had led the 
ex iles w ere inconso lab le. E. H ow ard 
H unt, m onitoring the defeat at CIA head-

David Atlee Phillips, about I960:
He was recruited by E. Howard 
Hunt to be propaganda chief o f the 
Bay o f Pigs operation, responsible 
for creating the false im pression that 
the invasion was spontaneous and 
not a CIA covert operation. When 
the invasion failed, Phillips got 
drunk and wept for two hours.
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Dr. M anuel Artim e, the fiery physician-leader of the anti-Castro forces in 
M iam i, stands with John and Jackie Kennedy in the Orange Bowl after the 
1961 Bay o f Pigs fiasco. The President promised continued support for the 
exiled Cubans against Castro but withdrew the support after the 1962 
Cuban m issile crisis, angering anti-Castro guerrillas and their CIA controls.

quarters until the end, later noted: “ 1 
was sick o f  lying and deception, heart­
sick over political com prom ise and m il­
itary defeat. . . . That n igh t, laced 
through my broken sleep, were the words 
Sir W inston Churchill had spoken to a 
British M inister o f Defense: ‘I am not 
sure I should have dared to start; but 1 
am sure 1 should not have dared to stop. ’ 
. . .  1 saw in his words a warning for 
those Americans who had faltered at the 
Bay o f  P igs.”

David Phillips would also reveal, years 
later, the em otional impact o f the defeat. 
In his m em oirs. The N ight Watch, he, 
too, detailed the end:

“ 1 w ent home. 1 peeled off my socks 
like d irty  layers o f  skin— 1 realized  I 
hadn 't changed them for a week. . . . 
1 bathed, then fell into bed to sleep for 
several hours. On awakening I tried to 
eat again, but couldn’t. Outside, the day 
was sheer spring beauty. I carried a por­
table radio to the yard at the rear o f the 
house and listened to the gloomy new s­
casts about Cuba as I sat on the ground, 
my back against a tree.

“ Helen cam e out from the house and 
handed me a m artini, a large one. I was 
half drunk when I finished. . . . Sud­
denly my stom ach churned. I was sick. 
My body heaved.

“ Then I began to cry. . . .
“ I wept for two hours. I was sick 

again, then drunk again. . . .
“ Oh shit! S hit!”

Following the Bay of Pigs, word went 
out from the W hite House that Kennedy 
was disillusioned with the CIA, that he 
was angry at his CIA advisers for push­
ing a scheme on him devised during the 
E isenhower adm inistration, that he had 
been ill-inform ed and misled and pres­
sured by CIA brass who had an egocen­

tric in terest in pushing the plan. The 
President called for the resignation o f 
CIA Director Allen Dulles and covert- 
plans boss Richard Bissell, and, accord­
ing to one aide, threatened to “ splinter”  
the Agency into “ a thousand pieces and 
scatter them to the w inds.”

That was misleading. Kennedy was, 
indeed, mad at the CIA— not for plan­
ning the Bay o f Pigs but for botching it. 
And he was mad at Castro who, in end­
less harangues and broadcast reviews of 
the battle, kept rubbing the young Pres­
ident’s nose in the hum iliating defeat. 
K ennedy’s initial reaction was reflexive: 
D on’t get m ad, get even. Appointing his 
brother Robert to oversee the A gency’s 
co v ert o p e ra tio n s , K ennedy  d id  not 
splinter the CIA but infused it with new 
life. The toughening up o f policy toward 
Cuba and the infusion o f money to the 
C IA ’s anti-Castro front groups became 
known as “ the Kennedy vendetta .”

Between the Bay of Pigs in April 1961 
and the Cuban m issile crisis in O ctober 
1962, a secret war was launched against 
Castro. K ennedy’s war, which made the 
preparations for the Bay o f  Pigs pale by 
com parison, slowly began altering the 
attitudes o f  the anti-Castro militants and 
the CIA operatives in the field, and al­
though a good m easure o f bitterness and 
cynicism  lingered, a more positive im ­
age o f the President began taking shape.

Kennedy did his best to reinforce that 
image. “ Cuba must not be abandoned 
to the C om m unists,”  he said in a speech 
shortly after the Bay o f Pigs, and he 
spoke o f  a “ new and deeper struggle .”  
That was a euphem ism  for a campaign 
that eventually em ployed several thou­
sand CIA operatives and cost more than 
$100 million a year.

A gain M iam i w as the focus o f  the 
effort. O n a large , secluded , heavily

wooded tract that was part o f the U ni­
versity o f M iam i’s South C am pus, the 
Agency set up a front corporation called 
Zenith Technological Services. Its code 
name was JM /W AVE and it soon be­
cam e the largest CIA installation any­
where in the world, with the exception 
o f the A gency’s Langley headquarters.

At the height o f its activities, the JM / 
W AVE station had a staff o f more than 
300 Am ericans, mostly case officers in 
charge o f  superv ising  and m onitoring 
Cuban exile groups. Each case officer 
em ployed as many as 10 Cuban “ prin­
cipal agen ts.”  Each principal agent, in 
turn, would be responsible for as many 
as 30 regular agents. The Agency funded 
front operations throughout the area—  
p rin t sh o p s, real es ta te  firm s, travel 
agencies, coffee shops, boat-repair yards, 
detective agencies, gun shops, neigh­
borhood new spapers— to provide em ­
ploym ent for the thousands o f  case of­
ficers and agents operating outside JM/ 
W AVE headquarters. It was said that if 
any Cuban exile wanted to open his own 
business, he had but to ask the CIA for 
start-up m oney. The CIA becam e one 
of the largest em ployers in south Florida.

The JM /W A V E station was a logis­
tical giant within itself. It leased more 
than 100 staff cars and maintained its 
own gas depot. It kept warehouses loaded 
with everything from machine guns to 
caskets. It had its own airplanes and what 
a form er CIA officer called “ the third- 
la rg e s t n av y  in the  W este rn  H em i­
sp h e re ,"  including hundreds o f small 
boats and yachts donated  by friendly 
m illionaires. T here w ere hundreds o f 
pieces o f  real estate, from dives to w ater­
front m ansions, used as safe houses or 
assembly points for operations. In ad­
dition, there were paramilitary training 
camps scattered throughout the Florida 
Keys and deep in the Everglades. (One 
o f the more active sites was a small, 
remote island north o f Key W est called 
No Name Key. One of the groups using 
it was called the International A nti-Com ­
munist Brigade, a collection o f soldiers 
o f fortune, mostly Am ericans, headed 
by a g iant ex-M arine, G erry Patrick 
Hemm ing. Like another ex-M arine, Lee 
Harvey O sw ald, Hemm ing was trained 
as a radar operator in California. Hem ­
ming would later claim  that Oswald once 
tried to join his 1AB group. Co-founder 
o f the IAB with Hemming was Frank 
Sturgis, a soldier o f fortune who once 
worked in Cuba with Castro and later 
would becom e one o f Howard H unt’s 
W atergate burglars.

Those were heady tim es for anti-Cas- 
tro groups in M iami. With the CIA pro­
viding lessons in sabotage, explosives, 
w eapons, survival, am bushes, and com ­
m unications, the missions to Cuba began 
escalating in frequency and scale. Ini­
tially intent on infiltrating small guerrilla 
bands onto the island, the Agency was 
soon supervising raids aimed at blowing 
up oil refineries and sugar mills.

The JM /W A V E station in Miami be­
cam e the international coordinating cen­
ter for the secret war. Every CIA station
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Did Fidel Castro invite the Russians to install missiles in Cuba— thus 
provoking the 1962 Cuban missile crisis— because of the CIA secret 
activities against him? M any Cuban exiles in Miami believed this— and were 
elated at the prospects o f a Kennedy-Castro showdown.

in the world had at least one case officer 
assigned to C uban operations and re­
porting to the Miami station. The station 
also  co n tro lled  an in te rn a tio n a l ec o ­
nomic strategy, pressuring US allies to 
embargo all trade with Cuba and super­
vising a w orldw ide sabotage program  
against goods being shipped to and from 
Cuba. The operational level of the Agency 
was also— w ithout K ennedy’s know l­
edge, it now appears, and even without 
the knowledge o f his newly appointed 
director, John M cCone— continuing its 
program of assassination attempts against 
Castro. In giving the CIA a new life, 
funding, and the pow er and influence to 
conduct large-scale secret operations, 
Kennedy had created a force over which, 
as he him self would discover, he could 
not m aintain total control.

That realization cam e with the Cuban 
m issile crisis in October 1962.

It is not known whether Castro requested 
the installation o f  offensive m issiles in 
Cuba or w hether he accepted them at the 
suggestion o f the Russians. There are 
many Cuban exiles in M iami who knew 
Castro w ell, who went to school with 
him , and who fought beside him in the 
mountains during the early days o f the 
26th o f  July M ovem ent, and they believe 
Castro was driven to obtaining the m is­
siles by the effectiveness o f the secret 
CIA war against him . They think the 
unrelenting infiltration and sabotage op­
erations created  pressures that drove 
Castro to consider doing something bold.

The more fervent of the Cuban exiles 
were initially elated by the possibility 
that the m issile crisis might provoke a 
showdown with Castro. President Ken­
nedy him self boosted such hopes with 
hard-line reponses to the buildup o f the 
Soviet presence in Cuba. In September 
1962, K ennedy declared  that the US 
w ould use “ w hatever m eans m ay be 
necessary”  to prevent Cuba from ex­
porting aggression “ by force or threat 
of force.”  In Miami, the anti-Castro exiles 
and their CIA bosses appreciated such 
tough talk and looked forward to real 
action.

By O ctober, K ennedy and K hrush­
chev were eyeball to eyeball. And then, 
suddenly, they started negotiating. The 
crisis ended on N ovem ber 20, 1962. 
K en n e d y  a n n o u n c e d  th a t all IL -2 8  
bom bers were being withdrawn by the 
Soviets and that progress was being made 
on the w ithdrawal o f  offensive missiles. 
In return, Kennedy said he gave the So­
viets and the Cubans a “ no-invasion”  
pledge.

Those fighting the secret w ar against 
Castro were shocked by the “ no inva­
sion”  settlem ent. To the men who had 
been risking their lives in a guerrilla war 
against Com m unism  in the Caribbean, 
it was astounding that Kennedy should 
m ake a deal w ith K hrushchev. If  the 
President’s actions at the Bay o f Pigs 
had raised doubts about his determ ina­
tion to bring down Castro, his handling 
of the m issile crisis more than confirmed 
those doubts. O ver cafe cubano  at the
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back tables o f luncheonettes in M iam i’s 
Little Havana, in the CIA safe houses 
in Coconut G rove, in the training camps 
in the Keys and the Everglades, wher­
ever the exiles and their control agents 
gathered, the word “ traitor”  would be 
spoken.

And yet the anger at K ennedy for 
m aking the m issile settlem ent was shal­
low com pared with the reaction o f the 
exiles and their CIA controls when it 
becam e apparen t w hat the P resid en t’s 
“ no invasion”  policy actually meant. 
Suddenly the United States government 
began cracking down on the very train­
ing cam ps and guerrilla bases its own 
agencies had established. Regular infil­
tration  raids into C uba by the ex iles , 
which autom atically had been getting the 
governm ent’s “ green lig h t,”  were dis­
avow ed and condem ned. The C uban 
Revolutionary Council, a united front o f 
exile groups established by the CIA , had 
its subsidy cut off.

The crackdown continued over the next 
several months to the confusion and an­
ger o f  the exiles. On the one hand they 
were being encouraged and supported 
by the US governm ent— w asn 't the CIA 
the US governm ent?— and on the other 
hand they were being handcuffed and 
arrested. It was crazy.

The Coast Guard announced it was 
throwing more planes, ships, and men 
into po lic ing  the F lorida straits. The 
Custom s Service raided the secret camp 
at No Name Key and arrested the anti- 
Castro force in training there. The FBI 
seized a m ajor cache o f explosives at an 
exile camp outside New Orleans. Then 
the Federal Aviation Adm inistration is­
sued “ strong w arnings”  to six American 
civilian pilots— including soldier-of-for- 
tune Frank Sturgis and a few who had 
worked directly with the CIA— who had 
been flying raids over Cuba. The Secret 
Service arrested a prominent exile leader

for conspiring to counterfeit Cuban cur­
rency earm arked for rebel forces inside 
Cuba— a plan that had all the hallmarks 
o f a CIA operation.

Against this pattern of crackdown by 
federa l en fo rcem en t ag en c ies , there 
em erged a counter-grain o f incidents rel­
evant to the Kennedy assassination. These 
incidents involve a series o f raids by 
anti-Castro groups that took place, de­
spite the crackdown, between the time 
of the m issile crisis in October 1962 and 
the assassination o f  President Kennedy 
in Novem ber 1963. At the height o f the 
m issile crisis— the most politically in­
opportune moment for Kennedy— one 
o f the largest and most militant o f the 
C uban g roups. A lpha 66, launched a 
strike at a major port in Cuba, killing 
at least twenty defenders, including some 
Russians. A week later the same group 
sunk a Cuban patrol boat. On October 
31 , the day afte r K ennedy lifted his 
blockade o f Cuba as a sign o f peaceful 
intentions. A lpha 66 struck again. Then, 
after the crisis ended in November, A l­
pha 66 pledged further raids.

There were at least a dozen other ac­
tions that, despite the President's orders, 
indicated that some Cuban exile groups 
were continuing the secret war. The CIA 
denied it had any association with these 
continuing actions.

There were indications that Kennedy 
was confused. At a press conference in 
May 1963, in response to a question 
about whether the US was giving aid to 
the exiles, the President stumbled: “ We 
may well be . . . well, none that I am 
fam iliar w ith. . . .  I don’t think as o f 
today that we a re .”  It was recently dis­
covered that the CIA had been support­
ing at least one exile group under what 
the Agency termed an “ autonomous op­
erations”  concept.

Few understood the sign ificance o f 
what was happening at the tim e, but one
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who did was a Dem ocratic congressman 
from Florida, Paul Rogers. Citing “ se­
rious kinks in our intelligence system ,”  
Rogers called for a joint congressional 
com mittee to oversee the CIA. “ And 
w hat p roo f have w e ,”  asked R ogers, 
“ that this Agency, which in many re­
spects has the power to preem pt foreign 
po licy , is not actually  exercising  this 
power through practices which are con­
tradictory to the established policy ob­
jectives o f this governm ent?”

T hat w as in F eb ruary  1963. T hat 
m onth , in D allas , a c z a ris t R ussian  
emigre, world traveler, and former French 
intelligence operative nam ed George de 
M ohrenschildt decided to give a dinner 
party. He invited a young couple, Lee 
and M arina Oswald, who had returned 
from Russia the previous summer.

Twelve years later, with the call from 
Senator Schweiker, I began an odyssey 
into the Kennedy assassination that would 
be far more revealing that I ever antic­
ipated. It was a journey into a maze that 
had grown, over the years, to bew ilder­
ing proportions. Yet what em erged were 
sim ilar images along many o f the path­
ways, an indication— often only gossa­
mer— of a concealed thread emanating 
from a com mon spool.

For instance, one o f the first leads 
Schweiker asked me to check out came 
from a source he considered impeccable: 
Clare Boothe Luce. One o f the wealthi­
est women in the world, widow of the 
founder o f the Tim e Inc. publishing em ­
pire, a form er congressw om an, and US 
am bassador to Italy, Clare Boothe Luce 
was the last person in the world Schwei­

ker would have suspected o f leading him 
on a wild-goose chase.

The chase began alm ost immediately 
after Schw eiker announced the form a­
tion o f the Kennedy assassination sub­
com m ittee. He was visited by W ashing­
ton reporter Vera G laser, who told him 
she had ju st interviewed Clare Boothe 
Luce and that Luce had given her in­
form ation relating to the assassination. 
Schweiker called Luce, who confirmed 
the story she had told Glaser.

Luce claim ed that in the early '60s she 
had financially supported an anti-Castro 
Cuban group running guerrilla raids into 
Cuba from M iami. On the evening of 
the Kennedy assassination, she received 
a call from one o f the members o f the 
group, who told her that Oswald had 
tried to penetrate his organization and 
had offered his services as a potential 
Castro assassin. He said that his group 
distrusted O sw ald, kept watch on him, 
and eventually penetrated a Com munist 
cell w here O sw ald was tape-recorded  
bragging about being, as Luce reported 
it, “ the greatest shot in the world with 
a telescopic rifle .”

Luce said she told her caller— whose 
nam e, she told Schw eiker, was “ som e­
thing like”  Julio Fernandez— to tell the 
FBI about the incident. However, when 
Schweiker checked the FBI files, he found 
no report o f  any such incident. There 
w as a reco rd  o f  O sw ald  hav ing  a p ­
proached an anti-Castro leader in New 
Orleans and then subsequently getting 
into a street squabble with him when the 
leader saw him distributing pro-Castro 
leaflets, but L uce’s story was em broi­
dered with different details and, Schwei-

Did Clare Boothe Luce throw red 
herrings in the path of assassination  
investigators? Luce had strong ties 
to the CIA, and many fruitless 
hours were consum ed tracking down  
leads she had given to the 
investigative staff.

ker thought, was worth checking out.
I spent weeks— in M iam i, New O r­

leans, and even Pennsylvania and New 
York— attem pting to locate this “ Julio 
F ernandez.”  To no avail. Later, with 
broader access to inform ation as an in­
vestiga to r fo r the H ouse Select C om ­
mittee on Assassinations, 1 discovered 
why I could not find the right Julio Fer­
nandez: The nam e, as Luce told then- 
CIA Director William Colby, with whom 
she was in touch at the tim e, was a con­
coction she had made up for Schweiker. 
Later, I interviewed Luce at her pent­
house apartm ent at the W atergate and 
told her that her story rem inded me of 
an Oswald incident in New Orleans in 
which he showed up at the store o f an 
anti-Castro leader and volunteered his 
services. Luce said: “ W hy, yes, that’s 
the same type o f thing that happened to 
my boys.”

W hen I walked out o f the W atergate 
late that afternoon, I knew only one thing 
for sure: An awful lot o f tim e had been 
spent checking out L uce’s story and, in 
the end, it led nowhere.

The last tim e I saw Luce was shortly 
after my interview with her. I attended 
a luncheon meeting o f the Association 
o f  F orm er In telligence O fficers. Luce 
was the guest speaker. Her speech was 
a vigorous defense o f the intelligence 
establishm ent and a review of its suc­
cesses. Clare Boothe Luce, besides being 
a guest speaker at that m eeting, is on the 
board o f directors o f the Association of 
Form er Intelligence Officers. That or­
ganization was founded in 1975 by David 
Atlee Phillips.

Tim e and again during the Kennedy as-
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Although the Cuban missile crisis resulted in a backdown by the Soviet 
Union and a withdrawal o f their missiles from Cuba, the negotiations 
stunned the Cuban exiles. Kennedy pledged that the US would not invade 
Cuba, and after being encouraged. Financed, and trained by the CIA, the 
anti-Castro fighters suddenly were targets o f a US crackdown.
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sassination investigation, the thread of 
an association with intelligence-agency 
actitivity would appear and reappear.

For instance, there was a man who 
called Schw eiker’s office with the in­
form ation that he had seen Lee Harvey 
Oswald and Jack Ruby together at the 
Key W est airport prior to the Kennedy 
assassination. They were with a group 
o f young people, he said, going to Cuba 
to cut sugarcane for Castro. Yes, he said, 
he had reported the inform ation to the 
FBI after Kennedy was killed. Again, 
Schweiker could find no record o f  it. 
But the man was a respected m em ber of 
the com m unity, a successful business-

One man with a history 
of muddying the 

Kennedy assassination 
waters showed up early 

in the investigations: 
Frank Sturgis, one of 
E. Howard Hunt’s 

accomplices in the 1972 
Watergate burglary.

man and, when I talked with him , very 
credible.

1 spent days in Key W est attem pting 
to verify the m an’s story. I questioned 
everyone 1 could find who had worked 
at the Key W est airport in the early ’60s. 
A few people rem em bered that a group 
did go through Key W est to Cuba to help 
Castro cut sugarcane. A Cuban plane did 
regularly fly into Key W est at one tim e, 
but not during the period the man said 
he recalled O sw ald, Ruby, and the group 
waiting for it in the airport term inal. I 
checked every record, file, and new s­
paper clip available and cam e close to 
confirm ing bits and pieces of the m an’s 
story, but I could not pin down even one 
factor. Yet the man insisted his recol­
lection was accurate. He took me to the 
exact spots where he said he had seen 
Oswald and Ruby in the airport term inal.

In checking out his story, I spent doz­
ens o f hours with this fellow. We got 
friendly. 1 met his family and was invited 
to dinner. One day he happened to show 
me the photo lab he had at the rear o f 
his business. 1 was am azed at the col­
lection o f  photographic and electronic 
gear stocked there. I was doubly amazed 
when 1 noticed sitting on the floor in a 
corner what appeared to be the housing 
of an aerial reconnaissance camera.

I began probing him about his use of 
such equipm ent. W ell, he said, he had 
made a num ber o f trips into Cuba after 
Castro took over, in order to find out a 
few things. He told about once being 
suspected o f spying by C astro’s police 
and how he was retained and beaten. He 
spoke o f how he hated Castro and how 
he thought Batista, whom he had known
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personally, was “ one o f  the best friends 
the United States ever h ad .”

W hen I asked him about the recon­
naissance cam era, he said he had flown 
a num ber o f  aerial photographic m is­
sions and proudly explained that he had 
designed a special device to permit him 
to trigger the cam era, installed in the 
belly o f his plane, from the cockpit. He 
said he had taken shots o f the Russian 
missiles in Cuba long before Kennedy 
announced they existed.

For w hom , I asked, was he working? 
“ I was to ld ,”  he said, sm iling, “ I was 
working for the United States Informa­
tion A gency .”  I asked if he thought it 
possible that he was really working for 
the C IA ? “ Y e s ,”  he said , “ I would 
think so .”

I asked who had paid for all his so­
phisticated photo and electronic equip­
ment. He looked at me as if I were play­
ing a gam e with him and d idn 't answer 
directly. Finally he gave me a wide grin 
and said, “ No com m ent.”

Could there be a pattern o f  m isinfor­
mation to the tips that Schw eiker was 
being fed? The long ride from Key West 
to M iami along the Overseas Highway 
is one o f scenic splendor, the sky blue 
and endless, the ocean a vista o f white- 
caps, the bay a glistening expanse of 
crystal serenity. The beauty escaped me 
as I drove hom e that evening. 1 kept 
thinking o f Vince Salandria telling me 
how busy I would be kept.

M any of the early tips that Schweiker 
received contained elem ents sim ilar to 
reports that sprung up im m ediately fol­
low ing the assassination  o f  President 
Kennedy. These reports all indicated that 
Lee Harvey Oswald was tied to pro-Cas­
tro elem ents or was a Castro agent.

I’ve com e to believe that a few of 
those early reports may have some re­
lationship to what I later uncovered. Take 
the reports linked to M exico City. Clare 
B oothe Luce m ain ta ined  that she had 
received the telephone call from one of 
her young  C ubans on the evening  o f 
K ennedy’s assassination. She rem em ­
bered that she had been watching tele­
vision with her husband in her New York 
apartm ent when the call came through. 
The caller told her, she said, about Os­
wald and how he had left New Orleans 
to go to M exico City before returning 
to Dallas. Yet, on the evening o f  No­
vem ber 22, O sw ald’s visit to Mexico 
City was known by a very few people, 
perhaps M arina Oswald and a handful 
o f  CIA officials— most notably, a few 
in the A gency’s M exico City station.

A nother attem pt to  link O sw ald to 
C astro  cam e out o f  M exico C ity im ­
mediately after Oswald was murdered 
by Jack  R uby. A young  N icaraguan  
named G ilberto A lvarado walked into 
the American Em bassy and insisted he 
had a story to tell the American am bas­
sador, Thom as M ann. Alvarado claimed 
that he had gone to the Cuban embassy 
in Septem ber and while waiting to con­
duct business had seen three persons 
talking on a patio a few feet away: Lee

Harvey O sw ald, a tall, thin Negro with 
reddish hair, and a Cuban from the con­
sulate. A lvarado said he saw the Cuban 
give the Negro a large sum of money 
and then heard the Negro tell Oswald, 
“ I want to kill the m an .”  According to 
Alvarado, Oswald replied, “ Y ou’re not 
man enough; I can do it,”  and the Negro 
then gave Oswald $6,500 in large-de­
nomination American bills.

A lvarado, it was later discovered, was 
an agent o f the N icaraguan intelligence 
service. N icaraguan dictator Anastasio 
Somoza was a strong anti-Castroite and 
a cooperative ally o f the CIA , having 
perm itted the Agency to use his country 
as a training cam p and assembly area for 
the Bay o f  Pigs invasion. At the time of 
the Kennedy assassination, Manuel Ar- 
tim e, dubbed by his fellow anti-Castro 
leaders as the C IA ’s “ golden bo y ,”  still 
had two training bases in Nicaragua and 
a huge arsenal o f equipm ent.

The Alvarado fabrication strikes some 
researchers as having the hallmarks of 
a counterintelligence scenario, another 
stone thrown in to muddy the already 
murky waters.

One man with a history o f m uddying the 
Kennedy-assassination waters showed 
up early in the Schweiker investigation: 
Frank Sturgis, one o f  E. Howard H unt’s 
accom plices in the W atergate burglary.

The names o f both E. Howard Hunt 
and Frank Sturgis had been in the news 
in connection with the Kennedy assas­
sination  long before I jo ined  Senator 
Schw eiker’s staff. A group o f assassi­
nation researchers had contended that 
tw o o f the three men in photographs 
taken in D allas’s Dealey Plaza on No­
vem ber 22, 1965, bore “ striking resem ­
blances”  to Hunt and Sturgis. The men 
were reportedly derelicts— or “ tram ps,” 
as the press cam e to call them— who 
were discovered in a boxcar in the rail­
road yard behind the grassy knoll. Taken 
to police headquarters, the tramps were 
escorted across Dealey Plaza, where news 
photographers took photos o f them. The 
tram ps w ere questioned  and released, 
w ithout a record o f their identities being 
kept.

The Sturgis-Hunt contention was ex­
amined in early 1975 by the Rockefeller 
Com m ission, which was appointed by 
President Gerald Ford to probe illegal 
CIA activities in the United States. Re­
lying on com parative photo analysis per­
formed by the same FBI expert who did 
all the W arren Com m ission’s analyses, 
the Rockefeller Com m ission concluded 
that the men in the tramps photographs 
were not Sturgis and Hunt.

About the time Schweiker began his 
investigation, a new book again raised 
the Sturgis-Hunt story. Titled Coup d'Etal 
in America, it was written by Michael 
Canfield and Alan J. W eberm an, with 
a foreword by Texas Congressman Henry 
B. Gonzalez. The book incorporated a 
novel device: It cam e with film-positive 
photos o f Sturgis and Hunt designed to 
be ov erlay ed  on p h o tog raphs o f  the 
tramps. Superim posed, the images did
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The FBI found Sturgis 
at home in Miami. 

They said, “ Frank, if 
there’s anybody 

capable of killing the 
President of the United 
States, you’re the guy.”

Frank Sturgis: trusted Castro confidant in the early days of the Cuban 
revolution, militant anti-Castroite and CIA operator in M iami, finally a 
W atergate burglar.

bear striking sim ilarities.
I would later discover that photo com ­

parison and analysis is an exceptionally 
nonconclusive technique. The House 
A s s a s s in a t io n s  C o m m itte e  sp e n t 
$83,154 on it. Among the photographs 
we submitted to a panel o f experts for 
analysis and com parison were not only 
those o f Sturgis and Hunt but also those 
of other individuals who resem bled the 
tram ps. The panel concluded that Sturgis 
and Hunt were not the tram ps in the pho­
tographs . It did conclude that one o f the 
tramps— the one who resem bled Hunt—  
was most likely a man nam ed Fred Lee 
Chrism an, a right-wing activist. When 
those results cam e in. Com m ittee inves­
tigators were sent out to find out where

Chrism an was on N ovem ber 22, 1963. 
(Chrism an had since d ied.) They came 
back with official records and eyew it­
ness affidavits that Chrism an was teach­
ing school in the state o f  W ashington the 
day Kennedy was assassinated. So much 
for the conclusiveness o f photo analysis.

W hat was interesting, how ever, was 
the panel’s conclusions in its com parison 
o f photos o f Frank Sturgis with those of 
the tram ps. It used tw o com parative 
techniques. One it termed “ metric traits” 
and the o ther “ m orphological d iffe r­
ences.”  One was a com parison o f the 
m easurem ents o f six facial features and 
their metric relationships; the other was 
simply w hether o r not various facial fea­
tures were shaped the same. The panel

concluded that the average deviation 
between the tram p’s features and Stur­
g is’s features was “ low enough to make 
it im possible to rule out Sturgis on the 
basis o f metric traits a lone .”  However, 
the panel said, it was the morphological 
differences that indicated that Sturgis was 
not the tram p. In other words, Sturgis 
just d idn’t look like the tramp.

The House Committee’s staff in charge 
o f the photo panel’s work was an attor­
ney named Jane Downey. One day she 
came to me and asked me to help gather 
some o f the photographs that would be 
sent to the panel members for analysis. 
I recall asking her at the time to find out 
whether or not the experts would take 
into consideration the possibility that the 
tramps might be wearing sophisticated 
disguises. That had to be the case if they 
were not ju st real drifters in the wrong 
place at the wrong time. (As a m em ber 
o f N ixon’s W hite House plum bers, E. 
Howard Hunt had obtained disguises from 
the C IA ’s Technical Services Division 
and used them on m ore than one job .) 
D ow ney prom ised  she w ould ask the 
photo  analysts about the use o f  d is­
guises.

Sevt ral days later Jane Downey told 
me she had checked with the photo an­
alysts. “ I ’m told that there is no way 
they can tell if  disguises were u sed ,”  
she said.

“ In other words,”  I said, “ if the tramps 
were in disguise there would be no way 
the analysts could tell who they really 
are?”

“ T hat’s what I ’m to ld .”
“ Then why do a photo com parison 

at all?”  I asked. Downey shrugged her 
shoulders. “ W ell,”  I said, “ I hope that 
point is mentioned in the final report.”

“ I ’m  sure it will b e ,”  said Downey.
It w asn’t.

My initial interest in both Frank Sturgis 
and E. Howard Hunt was not predicated 
on whether they were the Dealey Plaza 
tram ps. W hen the Rockefeller Com m is­
sion concluded that Sturgis and Hunt had 
not been in D allas on N ovem ber 22 , 
1963, it raised more questions than it 
resolved. Although the Com m ission re­
port claim ed that Sturgis and Hunt had 
alibis for their whereabouts on N ovem ­
ber 22, 1963, it concluded: “ It cannot 
be determ ined with certainty where Hunt 
and Sturgis actually were on the day of 
the assassination .”
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It can be determ ined  w here Frank 
Sturgis was on the day after the Kennedy 
assassination. The FBI found him at home 
in M iami. “ I had FBI agents all over 
my house ,”  he has said. “ They told me 
I was one person they felt had the ca­
pabilities to do it. They said, ‘Frank, if 
there’s anybody capable o f killing the 
President o f the United States, you 're  
the guy who can do i t . ’ ”

Now in his fifties and putting on weight, 
Sturgis has led a thousand lives, maybe 
more. He was bom Frank Angelo Fiorini 
in N orfolk, V irginia. His parents sepa­
rated when he was an infant and he grew 
up with his m other’s family in Phila­
delphia’s Germ antow n. (He would later 
change his name to his stepfather’s, Frank 
Anthony Sturgis, when his m other re­
m arried.)

Frank Sturgis turned seventeen two 
days after Japan bombed Pearl Harbor, 
and he dropped out o f Germ antown High 
to jo in  the M arines. Sturgis was shipped 
to the Pacific jungles, where he volun­
teered for the toughest unit in the M a­
rines, the First Raider Battalion, the leg­
endary Edson’s Raiders. He was taught 
how to kill with his bare hands, infil­
trated into enem y encam pm ents, a ir­
dropped on com m ando raids. He saw 
G uadalcanal, Iwo Jim a, O kinaw a, three 
serious com bat w ounds, malaria, jaun ­
dice, and, in the end, he was diagnosed 
as having “ exhaustion and possible psy­
choneurosis.”  He had a stay at the Sun 
Valley Naval M edical Center before his 
discharge in 1945.

After W orld W ar II, Sturgis was a 
p la inclo thes cop in N orfo lk , w ent to 
school part-tim e at W illiam  and Mary 
College, managed a few bars, trained as 
a radio gunner in the Naval Reserves, 
crewed as a m erchant seam an, did a two- 
year stint with the US Army in Germany 
where he served with the Arm ed Forces 
Security  A gency , w as m arried , w id­
owed, rem arried, divorced, and married 
again.

Sturgis says he got involved in Cuban 
activities in the early ’50s when he went 
to Miami to visit an uncle who was m ar­
ried to a Cuban. That’s how he got friendly 
with exiled form er Cuban President Car­
los Prio , he says. P rio , close to the 
American mob who ran H avana’s gam ­
b ling  ca s in o s , w as fund ing  C a s tro ’s 
guerrilla  w ar against G eneral B atista. 
(Prio would later be convicted o f arms 
sm uggling with a Texan, Robert Mc- 
Keown. A fter the Kennedy assassina­
tion, M cKeown told the FBI that he was 
approached by Jack Ruby about a deal 
to sell military equipm ent to Castro. In 
1977, a week before he was scheduled 
to interview Prio, he went to the side o f 
his M iami Beach hom e, sat on a chaise 
outside the garage, and shot him self in 
the heart. He reportedly had financial 
problem s.)

It was through Prio, Sturgis says, that 
he infiltrated Cuba to jo in  Castro in the 
mountains. Soon he was a trusted Castro 
aide, an em issary on arms deals all over 
the United States and Latin Am erica, a 
daring pilot who flew loads o f weapons
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What struck me about 
that initial interview 
with Sturgis was his 
Archie Bunker-like 

directness. He said he 
thought the Kennedy 

assassination was 
definitely a conspiracy 
and that Oswald was 

a patsy.

in to  m oun ta in  a irs trip s . He becam e 
friendly  w ith ano ther daredevil p ilo t, 
Pedro D iaz-Lanz, and w hen, after the 
revolution, Castro appointed Diaz-Lanz 
chief o f the Rebel A ir Force, Sturgis was 
named the Air Force’s director o f se­
curity. Nine months after Castro took 
power, D iaz-Lanz and Sturgis publicly 
condem ned C astro’s Com m unism  and 
fled to M iam i. A month later, they were 
d ro p p in g  p ro p a g a n d a  le a f le ts  o v e r  
Havana.

Frank Sturgis says he was never an 
official, paid agent o f the Central Intel­
ligence Agency. The CIA has confirmed 
this. Yet, before the Bay o f Pigs and 
afterw ards, during the height o f the JM / 
W A V E ’S se c re t w ar ag a in st C astro , 
Sturgis used equipment, flew planes, and 
directed assault craft that were supported 
by the CIA. He has adm itted that the B- 
25 he flew on his first leaflet-drop was 
m aintained with $10,000 from  E. How­
ard Hunt.

In term s o f the Kennedy assassination, 
it was S turgis’s relationship with Hunt 
that drew  my attention. Both testified 
under oath to the Rockefeller Com m is­
sion that they first met just prior to the 
W atergate burglary— Hunt said in 1972, 
Sturgis said in late 1971 or early 1972. 
T hat seem ed strange in view  o f their 
active involvem ent in M iam i’s anti-Cas­
tro activities in the early ’60s. Sturgis 
claim s that although he knew o f “ Ed­
uardo”  at the tim e, all his contacts with 
him and the funds that cam e from him 
were through H unt’s assistant, Bernard 
Barker.

In October 1972, w riter Andrew St. 
George interviewed Frank Sturgis in his 
home in M iami while Sturgis was await­
ing his W atergate sentence. It was before 
the tram p photos were publicized, before 
cries for another Kennedy-assassination 
investigation began to peak, before the 
R ockefeller C om m ission w as form ed. 
St. George was an old friend o f  Sturgis 
from their days with Castro in the m oun­
tains. Sturgis was glad to see the gre­
garious St. George and, stung by his 
arrest at W atergate and the headlines that 
m ade him  appear a bungling  burg lar.

S tu rg is— acco rd in g  to  S t. G eo rge—  
blurted out the real story behind W ater­
gate. A few months later, St. George 
visited Sturgis in the W ashington, DC, 
ja il. “ I will never leave this ja il a live ,”  
he says Sturgis told him , “ if what we 
discussed about W atergate does not re­
main a secret between us. If you attempt 
to publish what I’ve told you, I am a 
dead m an .”

In August 1974, St. George published 
his interview with Sturgis in True mag­
azine. In it, he quotes Sturgis as saying: 
“ The Bay o f  Pigs— hey, that was one 
sweet m ess. I met Howard Hunt that 
year; he was the political officer of the 
exile brigade. Bernard Barker was Hunt’s 
right-hand m an, his confidential clerk—  
his body servant, rea lly .”

Sturgis today denies he ever said that 
and curses St. George.

Today, Sturgis is not hesitant to admit 
his disgust with Kennedy after the Pres­
ident made the Cuban-m issile arrange­
ment with the Russians. Sturgis was one 
o f the six pilots specially warned by the 
F edera l A v ia tion  A dm in is tra tion  for 
making raids over Cuba at the time Ken­
nedy was negotiating the delicate deal. 
Sturgis was also the co-founder o f  the 
International Anti-Com m unist Brigade, 
som e o f  w hom  w ere arrested  at their 
training site on No Name Key after the 
m issile crisis.

My first interview with Frank Sturgis 
cam e not long after he was released from 
his Watergate sentence. For many months 
he remained a low-profile figure in Miami, 
not m oving around m uch, not getting his 
nam e in the newspaper, not yet back in 
action. That night he talked effusively, 
c h a in -sm o k in g  an d  d r in k in g  C o k e . 
(Sturgis is a heavy sm oker, but never 
touches alcohol.)

W hat struck me about that initial in­
te rv iew  w ith  S tu rg is  w as h is A rch ie 
Bunker-like directness. He said he thought 
the K ennedy assassination  was d efi­
nitely a conspiracy, that Oswald was a 
patsy , and that the governm ent agen­
cies— the FBI, the Secret Service, and 
the CIA— were all involved in a cover- 
up. He spoke o f the possible motivations 
o f the anti-Castro groups and their dis­
like for Kennedy after the Bay o f Pigs. 
( “ I even hated him , to o ,”  he said.) He 
said he once refused to  jo in  the CIA even 
though it gave him  an application be­
cause he thought it was infiltrated at its 
h ig h est ranks w ith  doub le  agen ts—  
“ possib ly  the sam e people w ho con­
spired to kill K ennedy.”  He said his the­
ory was that the Kennedy assassination 
was a conspiracy involving intelligence 
agents in Russia’s KGB, C uba’s intel­
ligence service, and the CIA. Actually, 
as Sturgis ram bled on, there w asn’t a 
conspiracy theory he didn’t espouse.

Several months later, Frank Sturgis 
made that initial interview more inter­
esting. The Schweiker report had just 
been released. The Church Intelligence 
Com m ittee staff had built it on the blocks 
o f  C astro -assassina tion  plo ts that the 
W arren Com m ission had not been told 
about, thus m aking the Castro retaliation
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Senator Richard Schweiker headed 
the Senate Intelligence C om m ittee’s 
investigation into the assassination  
of John F. Kennedy and urged a
com plete re-investigation.

theory its strong theme.
The evening after the report was re­

leased, Sturgis telephoned. He said he 
had just run across an old friend, a “ guy 
with the C om pany,”  who “ revived”  his 
mind about something he had com pletely 
forgotten to tell me. He now recalled 
that he had heard about a meeting in 
H avana about tw o m onths before the 
Kennedy assassination. At the meeting 
were a num ber of high-ranking men, in­
cluding Castro, his brother Raul, Ramiro 
Valdez, the chief o f Cuban intelligence, 
Chd G uevara and his secretary, Tanya, 
an o th er C uban o ffic e r , an A m erican  
know n as “ El M ex ican o ,”  and— oh, 
yeah— Jack Ruby. And the meeting dealt 
with plotting the assassination o f John 
F. Kennedy.

T hat’s what Sturgis had “ completely
forgot”  to tell me. Just a bit o f infor­
mation, with names.

Suddenly Sturgis was pushing Castro- 
did-it stories again.

Im m ediately after the Kennedy assassi­
nation , S turgis w as involved in other 
stories that proved to be without foun­
dation . A ccording to FBI docum ents, 
one involved a reporter named James 
Buchanan who had written an article for 
the Pompano Sun Sentinel that quoted 
S turgis as saying that O sw ald visited 
M iam i in N ovem ber 1962 to contact 
M iam i-based supporters o f Fidel Castro 
and that, while in M iami, was in tele­
phone contact with C astro’s intelligence 
service.

I was intrigued by why Frank Sturgis 
would inject him self into the Kennedy- 
assassination investigation. 1 was also 
intrigued by the character o f  the infor­
mation he circulated, imbued as it was 
with just the right am ount o f  detail and 
tenuous relation to some sort o f docu­
m entary evidence. I wondered if here, 
too, there was a counterintelligence ov­

erlay to what was happening.
There were other moments that made 

me think I was taking Frank Sturgis too 
seriously. One evening I was chatting 
with him on the telephone. At the time 
I was checking into a fellow called “ El 
M ono” — the M onkey— who had been 
described to me as “ one of the C IA ’s 
best-trained Cuban operatives.”  Sturgis 
talked about him for a while and then 
said he had a friend who could tell me 
a lot more about El M ono. The friend, 
whom I ’ll call Paul, was an American 
w ho had spent seven years in C astro 
prisons. He was charged with plotting 
to blow up a building housing Russian 
agents. Paul had operated a small bar in 
H avana as a fron t, was m arried  to a 
Cuban who worked for the CIA , and was 
deeply involved in M iam i’s anti-Castro 
Cuban activity. Sturgis said he would 
make arrangem ents for me to m eet Paul, 
but he d idn’t want to tell Paul that he 
was setting him up. He said he would 
be having breakfast with Paul the next 
Saturday m orning at the W estward Ho 
restaurant in Little Havana and that I 
should just stroll in. “ He don’t know 
you’re gonna be there, so when you get 
there I ’ll just put him on a little b it,”  
said Sturgis. “ W e’re old friends; I ’ve 
known him for years. I t’ll be funny. We 
kid with each other a lot. H e’s a funny
g u y ”

1 spotted Sturgis and his friend in a 
back booth when I walked into the W est­
ward Ho. Sturgis had his back to the 
door. I strolled up and slapped him on 
the shoulder. “ H ey, Frank!”  I greeted 
him. “ Howya been? W hat’ve you been 
doing? H aven’t seen you around lately. ”  
Sturgis looked up with a surprised yet 
blank expression. “ Hey, I know y o u ,” 
he said. “ Sure you do !”  I said, sitting 
down beside him. “ W here do 1 know 
you from?”  he wondered aloud. “ Frank, 
how can you forget?”  I said. “ Now wait 
a m inute, don ’t tell m e ,”  said Sturgis, 
“ I ’ll think o f i t .”  He cupped his chin 
in his hand and thought hard. He was 
a very bad actor and I couldn’t keep a 
grin from crossing my face. Paul just 
stared at us, w ondering what was going 
on.

Sturgis kept the act up for about five 
m inutes, pounding his forehead and tak­
ing shots at different names. “ Oh, I know 
I know 1 know ,”  he would say in mock 
frustration, “ but I ’m drawing a blank 
w all!”  I couldn’t help laughing, more 
at his display at over-dram atics than at 
P au l’s puzzlem ent. F inally , I reached 
across the table and introduced m yself 
by name to Paul. He shook my hand and 
then turned to Sturgis. “ W ell, now  do 
you rem em ber who he is?”  Paul asked 
him. Sturgis was feigning a mild con­
vulsion. “ O h, sure, su re ,”  he adm itted, 
“ I really know who he is. I was just 
puttin’ you on !”

“ O h ,”  Paul said, not getting the point 
o f the charade.

“ G aeton h e re ,”  S turgis said , still
laughing, “ is a friend o f mine who is
with the, uh, w hattaya callit, you know,
the governm ent com m ittee that’s look­

ing into the assassination, you know , the 
assassination o f John F. K ennedy .”  

“ O h ,”  Paul said, “ you mean the guy 
you k illed .”

Sturgis’s face froze. The smile was 
gone. Then he shook his head and smiled 
again. “ O h, yeah, sure,”  he said. Paul 
laughed at catching Sturgis off guard.

I started laughing, too. He was right. 
Paul was a funny guy.

During the first few months I worked for 
Senator Schweiker, I spent a lot of time 
thrashing about in murky waters. Then, 
one afternoon early in January 1976, I 
received a call from  Dave M arston in 
S c h w e ik e r ’s o f f ic e .  M a rs to n  w as 
S chw eiker’s s ta ff  coord ina to r on the 
Kennedy investigation. “ You can give 
up on Silvia O d io ,”  he said. “ The guys 
over on com m ittee staff told me they got 
word she’s in Puerto Rico. T hey’re get­
ting ready to track her dow n .”

“ Do we have to tell them , D ave?”  
“ Tell them w hat?”
“ I was talking with Silvia Odio this 

m orning in M iam i.”
The Senate Com m ittee staff had de­

cided that their final report on the Ken­
nedy assassination could be written from 
docum ents given them by the FBI and 
C IA . The staffers figured  they d id n ’t 
have tim e for any investigation in the 
field. But the “ Odio incident”  bothered 
them , just as it had bothered the W arren 
Com m ission.

If the W arren Com m ission had found 
that Silvia Odio was telling the truth, its 
final conclusion  that O sw ald w as not 
part o f a conspiracy would have been 
underm ined. Odio claim ed that Oswald 
was one o f three men who came to the 
door o f  her apartm ent in Dallas one eve­
ning in the last week o f Septem ber 1963. 
The Com m ission dism issed O dio’s tes­
tim ony because, it said, it had “ consid­
erable evidence”  that Oswald had not 
been in Dallas at all that September.

It had nothing o f the sort. The W arren 
Com m ission’s problem  was that if  O s­
wald had gone to Dallas on his way from 
New Orleans to M exico City, he would 
have had to have private transportation 
and, because he did not have a car and 
could not drive, that meant that others 
were involved with him. And the W arren 
Com m ission did not want to have to deal 
with that.

My discovery o f  Silvia Odio in Miami 
was important because in investigating 
her story I would open a new area of 
evidence with explosive potential. Silvia 
O dio’s background is relevant. She was 
the oldest o f ten children spirited out of 
Cuba when their parents becam e active 
in a n t i-C a s tro  a c tiv i ty . H er fa th e r ,  
Am ador O dio, was among C uba’s w eal­
thiest m en, ow ner o f the country’s larg­
est trucking business and once described 
by Time as the “ transport tycoon”  of 
Latin Am erica. But both he and his wife, 
S arah , w ere idealists and had fought 
against dictators from the tim e o f G en­
eral M achado in the ’30s. They were 
am ong C a stro ’s early  supporters and 
am ong the first to turn against him  when
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Silvia Odio sw ore to the W arren  
Com m ission that she met Lee 
Harvey Oswald in the com pany of 
two Cubans in Dallas in Septem ber 
1963. If she could be believed, that 
would mean a probable conspiracy. 
She was not believed.

“ Fidel betrayed the R ev o lu tio n ,”  as 
Am ador Odio would later say. With lib­
eral leader M anolo Ray, they helped to 
form one o f the first anti-Castro groups 
within Cuba.

Am ador and Sarah Odio were arrested 
by Castro in October 1961 at their coun­
try estate outside Havana. (The Odios 
had once been hosts at the wedding of 
one o f C astro’s sisters on that estate.) 
Later Castro would turn it into a national 
w om en’s prison and Sarah Odio would 
spend eight years incarcerated there.

W hen her parents were arrested, Sil­
via O dio was 24 years o ld , liv ing in 
Puerto Rico with her husband and four 
young children. She had attended law 
school in Cuba for a while. After her 
parents were arrested, her husband was 
sent to Germ any by the firm for which 
he was w orking and subsequently de­
serted her and their children. Destitute, 
she began having em otional problem s. 
By that tim e, S ilvia’s younger sisters, 
Annie and Sarita, were settled in Dallas. 
Sarita, a university student, had become 
friendly w ith a Dallas clubwom an named 
Lucille Connell, who was active in both 
the Cuban Refugee Center there and the 
M ental Health Association. W hen Sarita 
told Connell o f  S ilvia’s plight, Connell 
made arrangem ents to have Silvia and 
her children move to Dallas and for Sil­
via to receive psychiatric treatment.

Lucille Connell becam e S ilvia’s clos­
est confidante. Connell would later tell 
me that S ilv ia’s em otional problem s re­
sulted in attacks of sudden fainting when, 
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according to C onnell, “ reality got too 
painful to b ea r.”  Connell said she w it­
nessed Silvia suffer these attacks when 
she first arrived in Dallas, but with psy­
chiatric help they ended— until the Ken­
nedy assassination.

Silvia Odio had moved to Dallas in 
M arch 1963. She wanted to lead a quiet 
life, but her desire to do something to 
help get her parents out o f prison led her 
and her sisters to m aintain contact with 
Cuban exiles who were politically active 
and to jo in  the anti-Castro group called 
JURE, which was founded by her father's 
old friend, M anolo Ray. (This was the 
same M anolo Ray who clashed with E. 
Howard Hunt before the Bay o f Pigs.)

By Septem ber 1963, Silvia Odio was 
established in D allas’s Cuban-exile com ­
munity. She had a decent job , had her 
em otional problem s under control, and 
was planning to m ove into an apartment 
more com fortable than the rental unit in 
which she and her four children were 
squeezed. M oving day was set for M on­
day, October 1, 1963. The week before 
she was scheduled to m ove, her sister 
A nn ie , then  se v en te en , cam e to  the 
apartm ent to help her pack and to baby­
sit. W hen the doorbell rang early one 
evening in that last week o f Septem ber, 
Annie went to the door to answer it.

Later I would talk with Annie Odio, 
who is now also living in M iami. She 
is married to an architect and has two 
children. She rem em bered the evening 
at S ilvia’s apartm ent in Dallas. One of 
the m en asked to speak to Sarita. He 
initially spoke English, but when Annie 
answered him in Spanish he spoke Span­
ish. Annie told him that Sarita d idn’t live 
there. “ He then said something— I don’t 
recall exactly w hat, som ething about her 
being married— which made me think 
that they really wanted my sister Silvia. 
I recall putting the chain on the door 
while I went to get S ilv ia .”

Annie told me that two o f the men 
w ere L atin -look ing  and that one was 
shorter than the other and heavy set, had 
dark , sh iny hair, and “ looked M exi­
c a n .”  She said the third man was an 
American.

Annie Odio recalled that Silvia was 
initially reluctant to talk with the visitors 
because she was getting dressed to go 
out, but she rem em bers Silvia com ing 
out o f  the bedroom  in her bathrobe to 
go to the door.

Silvia Odio had told me she had been 
getting dressed to go out when the three 
men cam e to the door. The men were 
standing in the vestibule just inside the 
small front porch. Both the porch and 
the vestibule had bright overhead lights. 
S ilvia said the men told her they were 
m em bers o f JU RE and spoke as if  they 
knew both M anolo Ray and her father. 
Her conversation, she said, was exclu­
sively with the taller Latin, who iden­
tified him self as “ L eopoldo ,”  although 
he adm itted he was giving her an alias 
or a “ w ar nam e,”  the use o f which was 
com m on am ong anti-Castro activists at 
the tim e. She said she was less certain 
o f the other L atin’s nam e— it might have

The third visitor, the 
American, was 

introduced to her as 
“ Leon Oswald.” She 

said the three men 
appeared tired, 
unkempt, and 

unshaven, as if they 
had just come from a 

long trip.

been “ A ngelo” — but she described him 
as her sister did, “ looking more M exican 
than anything e lse .”  The third visitor, 
the Am erican, was introduced to her as 
“ Leon O sw ald .”  She said “ Leon Os­
w ald”  acknowledged the introduction 
with a very brief reply, perhaps in idi­
omatic Spanish, but she later decided he 
could not understand Spanish because 
o f his lack of reaction to her Spanish 
conversation with “ Leopoldo.”

T here is no doubt in S ilv ia O d io ’s 
mind that this visitor was Lee Harvey 
Oswald: She was with the men more than 
twenty minutes and, although she did 
not permit them in her apartm ent, she 
was less than three feet from  them as 
they stood in the well-lit vestibule. She 
said Oswald and the other two men ap­
peared tired, unkem pt, and unshaven, 
as if they had just com e from a long trip.

“ Leopoldo”  told Silvia Odio that the 
reason they had com e to her was to get 
her help in soliciting funds, in the name 
o f JU RE, from  local businessmen. “ He 
told m e ,”  she recalled, " th a t he would 
like for me to write them , in English, 
very nice letters and perhaps we could 
get some fu n d s.”

Silvia was suspicious o f the strangers 
and avoided any com m itm ent, and the 
conversation  ended w ith “ L eopo ldo”  
giving her the im pression he would con­
tact her again. A fter the men left, Silvia 
locked her door and went to the window 
to watch them . She saw them pull away 
in a red car that had been parked in front 
o f  the apartment.

The following day or the day after—  
Silvia was never certain about that— she 
received a call from “ Leopoldo.”  She 
is relatively certain about the gist o f what 
“ Leopoldo”  told her in that telephone 
conversation, and it is consistent with 
her testim ony to the W arren Com m is­
sion. She said that “ Leopoldo”  told her 
that “ the gringo”  had been a M arine, 
that he was an expert marksm an, and 
that he was “ kind o f lo co .” She recalled: 
“ He said that the Cubans, we did not 
have any guts because we should have 
assassinated Kennedy after the Bay of 
P ig s.”

On the day President Kennedy was as­
sassina ted , both S ilv ia  and A nnie re-
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membered the visit o f the three men. 
Before she saw a photograph o f Oswald 
or knew that he was involved, the news 
of the P resident’s death brought back to 
Silvia’s m ind what “ Leopoldo”  had said 
about assassinating Kennedy. She had 
just returned to work from lunch, was 
told that everyone was being sent home, 
sudden ly  fe lt frig h ten ed , and , w hile 
walking to her car, fainted. She rem em ­
bers waking up in the hospital.

Across tow n, Annie Odio was watch­
ing television at a friend’s house. She 
and some friends had gone to see the 
President’s m otorcade pass several miles 
before it reached Dealey Plaza. “ When 
I first saw Oswald on television ,”  she 
told m e, “ my first thought was, ‘My 
G od, I know this guy and I don’t know 
from w here!’ 1 kept thinking, ‘W here 
have I seen this guy?' Then, 1 rem em ber, 
my sister Sarita called me and told me 
that Silvia had fainted at work and that 
she was sending her boyfriend to take 
me to the hospital. When 1 walked into 
the room Silvia started crying and crying. 
I think I told her, ‘You know this guy 
on TV who shot President Kennedy? I 
think I know h im .’ And she said, ‘You 
don ’t rem em ber where you know him 
from ?’ 1 said, ‘No, I cannot recall, but 
I know I ’ve seen him before.’ And then 
she told m e, ‘Do you rem em ber those 
three guys who came to the house?’ ”  
T hat’s when, Annie said, she knew she 
had seen Lee Harvey Oswald before.

Based on background and character, 
Silvia and Annie Odio were highly cred­
ible. The subsequent checking I did of 
their story absolutely convinced me they 
were telling the truth. One o f the major 
factors w as that S ilv ia O dio had told 
more than one person o f the incident 
before the Kennedy assassination.

She wrote to her father, A m ador, in 
prison and told him o f the visit o f the 
three strangers. The W arren Com m is­
sion obtained a copy o f his reply, which 
warned her to be careful because he did 
not know them. I spoke to Am ador Odio. 
He and his wife were released from Cu­
ban prison a few years ago and are also 
liv in g  in  M ia m i n o w . N o lo n g e r  
wealthy— he works at night for an air­
line— he confirmed receiving the letter 
from Silvia and his reply.

Another confirm ation came from Dr. 
Burton Einspruch, the psychiatrist coun­
seling Silvia at the tim e. He recalled that 
she had told him prior to the assassi­
nation o f the visit o f the two Latins and 
the Am erican, and he remembered call­
ing her on the day o f the assassination. 
He said she m entioned “ L eon" and, in 
“ a sort o f histrionic w ay ,”  connected 
the visit o f “ Leon”  to the Kennedy as­
sassination.

Also o f  relevance, I thought, was the 
fact that the FBI found out about the visit 
only inadvertently. Both Silvia and An­
nie had im m ediately decided, in the hos­
pital, not to say anything to anyone about 
what they knew. “ W e were so fright­
ened, we were absolutely terrified,”  Silvia 
remembered. “ We were both vety young 
and yet we had so much responsibility.

with so many brothers and sisters and 
our m other and father in prison. We were 
so afraid, not knowing what was hap­
pening. W e made a vow to each other 
not to tell anyone .”

They did not tell anyone they did not 
know and trust. But their sister Sarita 
told Lucille Connell, and Connell told 
a trusted friend, and soon FBI agents 
were knocking on Silvia O dio’s door. 
She says it was the last thing in the world 
she wanted to do but that when they 
cam e she felt she had to tell the truth.

Even before I met Silvia and Annie 
Odio and could evaluate their credibil-

What I recall best 
about meeting Silvia 

Odio in Miami was the 
fear. It was still with 

her after all 
these years.

ity, I was intrigued by two aspects o f the 
FBI docum ents and the W arren C om ­
mission records o f the Odio incident. 
First, they seem ed to contain the poten­
tial o f  som eth ing  o f  keystone sign ifi­
cance in any attem pt to grasp the truth 
about Lee Harvey Oswald and the Ken­
nedy assassination. If the incident did 
occur as O dio contended, then any plau­
sible theory o f the assassination would 
have to account for it. Second, this was 
the very point the W arren Com mission 
itself quickly recognized. The Com m is­
sion was therefore forced, by its own 
conclusions, to pummel the facts about 
the incident into conform ing lies.

The W arren Com m ission was ham ­
pered, o f course, by the FB I’s initial 
bungling in investigating the incident. 
Silvia Odio had provided good physical 
descriptions o f  her visitors and details 
about their car. The FBI did not vigor­
ously pursue those leads but instead spent 
most o f its time questioning people about 
S ilv ia ’s c red ib ility  and her em otional 
problem s. The B ureau’s first interview 
with Silvia Odio was on D ecem ber 12, 
1963. On August 23, 1964, with the first 
drafts o f the W arren Com m ission report 
being w ritten. C hief Counsel J. Lee Ran­
kin wrote to J. Edgar Hoover: “ It is a 
m atter o f  some importance to the Com ­
mission that Mrs. Odio’s allegations either 
be proved or disproved. ’ ’ A month later, 
with the report in galley form , the Odio 
incident was still a concern to some staf­
fers. In a memo to his boss, staff counsel 
W esley Liebeler wrote: “ There are prob­
lems. Odio may well be right. The C om ­
mission will look bad if it turns out that 
she is. There is no need to look foolish 
by grasping at straws to avoid adm itting 
that there is a p rob lem .”

The FBI did attem pt to alleviate that 
‘ ‘problem ’ ’ when it interviewed a soldier

o f fortune named Loran Eugene Hall on 
Septem ber 26, 1964. Hall claim ed he 
had been in Dallas in Septem ber 1963 
trying to raise anti-Castro funds with two 
com panions, one o f whom m ight have 
looked like Oswald. The W arren C om ­
m ission, grasping at a straw, cited the 
Hall interview in its final report, giving 
the impression that Hall and his com ­
panions w ere O d io ’s v isitors. It then 
concluded: “ Lee H arvey O swald was 
not at Mrs. O dio’s apartment in Septem­
ber 1963.”

The W arren Com mission did not m en­
tion that Loran Eugene Hall was one of 
the anti-Castro guerrillas arrested at No 
Name Key after K ennedy’s Cuban-m is­
sile crackdow n and also was a member 
o f the In ternational A nti-C om m unist 
B rigade, w hose m em bers and leaders 
had fed a series o f phony stories to Ken- 
nedy-assassination  investigators. N ei­
ther did the W arren Com mission note 
in its final report— even though it knew—  
that the subsequent FBI interviews re­
vealed that H all’s two com panions de­
nied having been in Dallas, that neither 
looked like O sw ald, that Silvia Odio, 
shown their photographs, did not rec­
ognize them, and that Loran Eugene Hall, 
when requestioned, adm itted he had fab­
ricated the story.

W hat I recall best about meeting Silvia 
Odio in M iami was the fear. It was still 
with her after all those years. She was

For J. Lee R ankin, chief counsel to 
the W arren C om m ission, Silvia 
O dio’s story posed problem s, for it 
cast in doubt the ultim ate finding  
that there had been no conspiracy. 
“ W e are supposed to be closing  
doors, not opening th em ,”  he said 
in refusing to credit her testim ony.
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working as an assistant in the legal de­
partm ent o f a large firm , but she had 
rem ained home that m orning so we could 
talk. Her husband, M auricio, who is in­
volved in Spanish-language publishing, 
had also rem ained home until he saw 
that his w ife felt com fortab le. S ilv ia , 
then in her late thirties, still youthful and 
attractive, was nervous but bright and 
m orning-fresh when we began talking. 
After several hours o f  discussing the in­
c id en t and h er ex p e rien ces  w ith the 
W arren Com m ission, she looked older.

Silvia Odio had been reluctant to talk 
at all. She kept asking, “ W hy? W hy are 
they bringing it all up again? W hat good 
will it do? I told them  the truth but they 
did not w ant to hear it. W hy do they 
want to keep playing gam es with me? 
W hy?"  Her voice had a nervous edge 
but she was articulate and rational. “ Why 
d idn’t the FBI investigate imm ediately? 
W hy did they wait so long after first 
talking with me before they came back? 
Do you think they really want to know 
what the answ er to the Kennedy assas­
sination is?”

She adm itted  that she had becom e 
disillusioned with the US governm ent 
because o f the way the FBI and the staff 
o f the W arren Com m ission treated her 
and because, in the end, she was offi­
cially term ed a liar.

“ It gets me so mad that 1 was just 
u sed ,”  she told me. I gave her my as­
surances that this time it would be dif­
ferent. I told her that I believed that it 
was necessary for Americans to learn the 
truth about the Kennedy assassination.
1 told her I believed that Senator Schwei- 
ker was an honorable man and would 
not be involved in anything but an honest 
investigation . W e spoke on the te le ­
phone several tim es before Silvia Odio 
finally agreed to visit with me. Even­
tually she came to trust me.

In the end the House Com mittee on 
A ssassinations was forced to conclude 
that Silvia Odio was telling the truth—  
reluctantly, in its final report: “ The com ­
m ittee was inclined to believe S ilvia 
O d io .”

W affling as that admission is, it meant 
that S ilv ia  O dio , in the C om m ittee’s 
opinion, was telling the truth. As if once 
that was acknow ledged, it could be put 
aside— a curtsy to truth— and the dance 
could go on.

Y et the O dio  adm ission  ham m ers 
cracks in the foundation o f the House 
Com m ittee’s conclusions that elements 
o f organized crim e were the probable 
conspirators in the Kennedy assassina­
tion. The report was forced to cross the 
bounds o f rationality: “ It is possib le ," 
it no ted , “ despite his alleged rem ark 
about killing K ennedy, that Oswald had 
not yet contem plated the President's as­
sassination at the time of the Odio in­
cident, or if he did, that his assassination 
plan had no relation to his anti-Castro 
con tac ts, and that he w as associating  
with anti-Castro activists for some other 
unrelated reason .”

The Com m ittee did not speculate on 
that “ other unrelated reason.”  That would

“ It’s a queer thing to 
hear the chief Senate 
investigator talking as 

if he and the CIA were 
partners in the search 

for the truth.
It does not seem to have 

occurred to him that 
the CIA is in the 

business of deception.”

have opened a door marked CIA.
But all that was to com e long after my 

first talk with Silvia Odio. And although 
I sensed her story was important to un­
derstanding the truth behind the Ken­
nedy assassination, 1 d idn’t realize how 
significant the pursuit o f it would be in 
my own investigation.

About the tim e 1 found Silvia Odio in 
Miami, an independent researcher named 
Paul Hoch sent Senator Schweiker a copy 
o f an article that was going to appear a 
few weeks later in the Saturday Evening  
P ost. He had w ritten it w ith G eorge 
O ’Toole, a form er CIA com puter spe­
cialist and the author o f The A ssassi­
nation Tapes, which revealed that psy­
chological-stress analysis o f O sw ald’s 
voice indicated he was telling the truth 
when he denied killing President Ken­
nedy. Hoch, a physicist at the University 
o f California at Berkeley, was a Warren 
Com m ission critic known for his plod­
ding, analytical research of government 
docum ents.

The article was titled “ Dallas: The 
Cuban C onnection”  and it dealt with the 
Odio incident. “ The Saturday Evening  
Post has learned ,”  said the article, “ of 
a link between the Odio incident and one 
of the many attem pts on the life o f Cuban 
Prem ier Fidel Castro carried out by the 
Central Intelligence Agency and Cuban 
Emigres in the early 1960s.”

In his research, Hoch had discovered 
that Silvia O dio’s parents had been ar­
rested by Castro because they had har­
bored a fugitive nam ed Reinaldo G on­
zalez, who was wanted for plotting to 
kill Castro in October 1961. The plotters 
had planned to use a bazooka, which 
would have been fired from an apartment 
near the presidential palace when Castro 
was making one of his marathon speeches. 
The apartm ent was rented by the mother- 
in-law o f the principal plotter, Antonio 
Veciana. The plot failed: The bazooka 
never was fired, the potential killers were 
arrested, and G onzalez was later picked 
up on the Odio estate. However, Ve­
ciana, the organizer o f the plot, escaped 
to M iam i, where he founded Alpha 66, 
which cam e to be one o f the largest, 
best-financed, and most aggressive of

the Cuban-exile groups.
The article pointed out that A lpha 66 

had chapters all over the country, that 
Veciana made frequent fund-raising trips 
to these chapters, and that one o f the 
chapters he visited was in Dallas at 3126 
Hollandale. In the mounds o f Warren 
Com m ission docum ents, Hoch found a 
report by a Dallas deputy sheriff saying 
that an inform ant had told him that a 
person resem bling Oswald had been seen 
associating with Cubans at “ 3128 Har- 
lendale.”

The article concluded: “ Like the two 
Cubans who, with ‘Leon O sw ald ,’ vis­
ited S ilv ia O dio  in Septem ber, 1963, 
Antonio Veciana was: 1) an anti-Castro 
activist, 2) engaged in raising funds for 
the com m andos, and 3) acquainted with 
Silvia Odio’s father. While this falls short 
o f proving it, a real possibility exists that 
V eciana was one o f  the tw o Cubans 
who visited Silvia Odio, or that he at 
least can shed some light on the Odio 
inciden t.”

I was intrigued by another possibility, 
which Paul Hoch raised in a separate 
memorandum to Schweiker. In analyz­
ing one o f the early Church Committee 
reports on assassination  plo ts against 
foreign leaders, Hoch wondered why the 
1961 Veciana attem pt against Castro was 
not mentioned. Hoch was contending, 
in effect, that because the Veciana plot 
did not appear in the Church report, it 
was one the CIA was trying to hide.

At about that time there appeared in 
E squire  a colum n by its W ashington 
w atch er, T im o thy  C ro u se , w ho su g ­
gested that the CIA . in revealing such 
flashy “ secrets”  as its deadly shellfish 
toxin and toxic dart gun, was taking the 
Church Com m ittee through a primrose 
maze. Crouse was disturbed because the 
c o m m itte e ’s c h ie f  co u n se l, F .A .O . 
Schwarz Jr. (“ He has the innocent look 
o f one o f the trolls they sell at the toy 
store his great-grandfather founded” ), 
was accepting at face value the C IA ’s 
own enum eration o f its m isdeeds. “ I t’s 
pretty unusual,”  Schwarz adm itted to 
Crouse, “ to find that the defendant has 
developed large parts o f  the case. It’s 
very helpfu l.”

W rote Crouse: “ I t’s a queer thing to 
hear the chief Senate investigator talking 
as if he and the CIA were partners in the 
search for the truth. . . .  It does not 
seem to have occurred to Schwarz that 
the CIA w as, is. and always will be in 
the business o f deception .”

1 found Antonio Veciana listed in the 
Miami telephone directory. When I called 
1 spoke to his wife, Sira, and there was 
a nervous edge to her voice when she 
told me her husband w asn’t home. I said 
I was working with Senator Schweiker 
and asked the best time to reach her hus­
band. She said I should talk to her son 
Tony. A college student and the oldest 
o f V eciana’s five children, Tony told me 
his father was in Atlanta. I asked when 
he would return. Tony had a muffled 
conversation with his mother. “ Well, 
h e’s in Atlanta and he w on’t be home
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for a w h ile ,”  he said. I asked if I could 
reach his father in Atlanta. Another muf­
fled conversation with his mother. He 
asked why I wanted to talk with his father. 
I said I was a staff investigator for Sen­
ator Schweiker and that Schweiker was 
a m em ber o f  the C hurch Intelligence 
Com m ittee and that I wanted to learn the 
relationship between federal agencies and 
an ti-C astro  C ubans du ring  the early  
1960s.

There w as another m uffled conver­
sation with his mother. “ Well, you see,” 
he said, “ h e’s in A tlan ta.”  The third 
tim e Tony told me his father was in 
Atlanta it struck me that there was a 
federal penitentiary there. W as he trying 
to tell me his father was in prison? That, 
it turned out, was exactly what he was 
trying to tell me.

Tony would not tell me why his father 
was in prison. “ I think there are some 
people who want him in there ,”  he said, 
“ but I would rather you get the details 
from h im .”  He said if  I could identify 
m yself officially he would write to his 
father and ask him to have me put on 
the visitor list.

A few days later I went to show Tony 
my official identification. The Veciana 
home was small and modest, with a green 
stucco facade. It was on a quiet street 
on the northern edge o f M iam i’s Little 
Havana. In the front yard was a small, 
white statue o f the M adonna and Child.

It would be another month before 1 
could talk with Antonio Veciana. Shortly 
after he put me on the prison’s visitor 
list, he was told that he would be getting 
an early parole, so I decided to wait until 
he cam e home. 1 was in no hurry, be­
cause I d idn’t think the interview was 
of pressing importance.

W hile I was waiting to see Veciana,
I tried to do what checking I could into 
him and Alpha 66. There was not much 
in the newspaper files about V eciana’s 
early years, but I learned that he was an 
accounting graduate o f  the University o f 
Havana and that in his early twenties he 
had been considered the boy wonder o f 
Cuban banking and rose to become the 
right-hand man of Cuban’s major banker, 
Julio Lobo, the millionaire known as the 
“ Sugar K ing”  o f Cuba. Veciana was 31 
when Castro took control o f the country 
in 1959.

Alpha 66 em erged early in 1962, with 
Veciana its founder and chief spokes­
man. It seemed to receive more press 
attention than other militant exile groups 
because it appeared better organized , 
better equipped, and more successful in 
its guerrilla operations.

Alpha 66 seemed to taunt President 
Kennedy. Not content to limit its as­
saults to Cuba and C astro’s forces, it 
a ttacked any foreign ships supplying 
Castro and conducted assassination raids 
against Russian troops in Cuba.

At the height o f  the m issile crisis, 
when Kennedy was conducting delicate 
negotiations with Khrushchev, A lpha 66 
continued its raids into Cuba and assaults 
on C astro’s patrol boats. “ We will attack 
again and aga in ,”  Veciana vowed.

That m orning thirteen years later the in­
congruity o f it struck me as I approached 
this cozy green home on a quiet street 
in Little Havana— to see the man who 
had been at the vortex o f  such interna­
tional turmoil.

He was now 46, but the only image 
I had o f the man was from  an old new s­
paper clipping: much younger, the anti- 
Castro terrorist, his face contorted as he 
declared his defiance.

The man who opened the door ap­
peared as little like a menacing terrorist 
as one can imagine. He was a soft-look­
ing m an, fairly tall, with a sm ooth, full 
face, wavy black hair, and dark eyes. 
He was not at all m uscular but had a 
certain heft and a paunch. He was cas­
ually but neatly groom ed, with pressed 
dark trousers and a fresh white guaya- 
bera— nondescrip t attire  in L ittle H a­
vana. W hat struck me most when I first 
m et V eciana— som eth ing  particu larly  
striking in M iami— was his pallor. It was 
very much a prison pallor— something 
that com es from more than just not being 
in the sun, som ething that has to do with 
the spirit. The prison was still in Ve­
ciana’s eyes.

We sat in the small front living room. 
T here  w ere tw o S pan ish  P rov inc ia l 
couches, one red and one green, fitted 
with clear plastic covers, large photo­
graphs o f  each child adorning one wall, 
a coffee table with a formal family por­
trait propped in the cen ter, crocheted  
doilies on the end tables.

As soon as I saw Veciana, I decided 
he could not have been one of Silvia 
O dio’s visitors, as Paul Hoch had spec­
ulated in his Saturday Evening Post ar­
ticle. Veciana has a large and noticeable 
mole or birthm ark above his m outh, too 
prominent to go unnoted by anyone trying 
to identify him. W hen I asked Veciana 
about the Odio visitors, he said he knew 
A m ador and Silvia Odio but knew noth­
ing about the incident.

1 told V eciana w hat I had told his 
son— that I wanted to talk with him in 
general about the relationship o f US in­
telligence agencies and anti-Castro Cu­
ban groups. I said nothing o f my interest 
in the Kennedy assassination and, be­
cause Schw eiker had gotten relatively 
little press in M iami com pared to the 
headlines then being made by the Church 
Com m ittee, there was little reason for 
Veciana to assume I was working on 
Kennedy.

A lthough Veciana said he would an­

swer my questions, there was an initial 
defensiveness. “ I will tell you what you 
want to  know ,”  he said, “ but I am wor­
ried about certain things that can be used 
against m e .”  He said he had gone to 
prison on a drug-conspiracy charge. He 
said he would talk with me only if 1 
could assure him that anything he told 
me would not be used against him.

That puzzled m e, but 1 assum ed he 
was concerned about United States laws 
he may have broken during the course 
o f his anti-Castro activity. I assured him 
our talk would be confidential and would 
not be made public. I felt I could trust 
S chw eiker to back me and keep that 
prom ise, and he did. But I d idn’t realize 
then that anything sent to W ashington 
went into files and might be used for 
som ebody’s political ends.

I asked Veciana how he had gotten 
involved in anti-Castro activity. He said 
that as president o f the association of 
certified public accountants in Cuba he 
had been interested in politics. He had 
been am ong the leaders o f a group o f 
professional association presidents who 
had secretly worked on C astro’s behalf 
during B atista’s dictatorship. As a re­
sult, when Castro took over he was asked 
to jo in  the governm ent as a finance m in­
ister. He turned down the offer, he said, 
because he had a good position in C uba’s 
m ajor bank, but he did know and worked 
closely with high-ranking officials in the 
Castro governm ent.

It w as his know ledge o f  w hat was 
going on within the governm ent, Ve­
ciana said, that gave him an early in­
dication that Castro was not an idealistic 
reform er but a Com m unist. V eciana’s 
disillusionm ent grew , and soon he was 
talking with close friends about working 
against Castro. Then, he said, people 
cam e to him and started talking about 
elim inating Castro.

For some reason, the way Veciana put 
that made me think o f the letter Paul 
Hoch had sent to Schw eiker raising the 
possibility that the CIA may have been 
involved in the planned bazooka attempt 
on C astro’s life, w hich V eciana planned. 
I asked him if any o f the people who 
spoke about elim inating Castro were rep­
resentatives of the US government. Well, 
said Veciana, that was something he had 
never spoken about before, but there was 
an American he had dealt with who had 
very strong connections w ith the US 
governm ent.

For the next hour and a half, 1 ques-
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Cuban exile leader Antonio Veciana (left) with fellow anti-Castro leader 
Cecilio J . Vazquez during the height of CIA-inspired com m ando raids 
against Cuba in the early 1960s. Veciana’s report of seeing a CIA operative 
named M aurice Bishop with Lee Harvey Oswald in Dallas two months 
before the assassination was a major breakthrough in the investigation.

tioned Veciana about this American, who 
eventually becam e the secret supervisor 
and director o f all V eciana’s anti-Castro 
activities. He said the Am erican, who 
went by the nam e o f M aurice Bishop, 
directed not only the Castro assassina­
tion attem pt in Cuba in October 1961 
but also a plan to kill Castro in Chile in 
1971.

Bishop, said Veciana, was the person 
who suggested the founding o f Alpha 
66 and guided its overall strategy. Bishop 
was the person who pulled the strings 
in the US governm ent when financial 
and other support was needed and who 
involved V eciana not only in anti-Castro 
activity but in anti-Com m unist activity 
in Latin Am erica as well. Veciana said 
he w orked  w ith  B ishop  for th irteen  
years— until 1973.

1 realized 1 had stum bled onto som e­
thing important: a US intelligence-agency 
connection— a direct connection— with 
an anti-Castro group. The CIA had al­
ways denied— and still does— a super­
visory role in the activities o f anti-Castro 
groups after the Bay of Pigs. The Agency 
claim ed it only “ m onitored”  such ac­
tivity. Here was Veciana, the key leader 
o f the largest and most militant anti-Cas­
tro group, revealing much more than just 
a m onitoring interest on the A gency’s 
part— revealing, in fact, an involvement 
in two Castro-assassination attem pts the 
CIA  had not adm itted  to the C hurch 
Com m ittee. I wondered how the C om ­
mittee would handle this one— if they 
gave a dam n at all, now that they were 
frantically trying to wrap up their final 
report.

It was all fascinating but not especially 
relevant to the Kennedy assassination. 
1 could see no connection between Ve­
ciana’s activities in Miami and what had 
happened in Dallas, although Veciana 
did say his meetings with Bishop took 
p lace over the years in cities besides 
Miami, including Dallas, Las Vegas, and 
W ashington, and in Puerto Rico and Latin 
Am erica. W hen Veciana started talking 
about chapters o f A lpha 66 he had set 
up across the country, it gave me the 
opportunity, w ithout making reference 
to the Kennedy assassination, to ask him 
about the one in Dallas. He told me he 
had spoken at some fund-raising m eet­
ings at the hom e o f the A lpha 66 delegate 
there.

I asked him  if he knew a “ Jorge Sal­
azar.”  That was the name m entioned in 
the Dallas deputy sheriff’s report about 
the gathering o f A lpha 66 members at 
“ 3126 H ollandale.”  But 1 did not m en­
tion this or that Lee Harvey Oswald had 
reportedly been seen there.

“ N o ,”  said Veciana, “ I do not know 
the Salazar that is m entioned in the mag­
azine article on Dallas. And I never saw 
Oswald at that home where we m e t.”

1 was taken aback that Veciana should 
mention O sw ald, but then I realized, as 
Veciana him self would point out to me 
after he went to his bedroom and re­
turned with the m agazine, that the Hoch 
and O ’Toole article had been published 
in the Saturday Evening Post. Veciana
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said he had just read the article the day 
before.

“ N o ,”  he was saying, “ I never saw 
Oswald at that place where we held the 
meetings . . . ”

I was jo tting  that down in my note­
book and was not looking at him , but 
I heard him continue.

“  . . . but I rem em ber once meeting 
Lee Harvey O sw ald .”

I did not look up, and tried not to 
react. “ Oh, really?”  I said in a forced 
m onotone. “ How did you meet him? 
W here? W hen?”

V eciana said he m et O sw ald with 
M aurice Bishop in Dallas sometim e near 
the beginning o f  Septem ber 1963.

T here , in a m odest green house in 
Little H avana, alm ost thirteen years after 
the assassination o f John F. Kennedy, 
the reality o f what 1 was involved in 
struck me. The killing o f a President was 
no longer a series o f lingering TV im­
ages, bold black headlines, thick stacks 
of docum ents, books and files. It was 
som ething that had actually happened, 
and there were living people with direct 
strings through tim e to that moment. As 
much as the substance o f the information 
itself, it was the absolutely coincidental 
way it cam e up that stunned me. First 
impressions are inherently circum stan­
tial, but I had no doubt then— and have 
none now— that V eciana was telling the 
truth.

The details are what make the case.

O ne m orn ing  in the late sum m er o f  
1960— about a year and a half after Cas­
tro took power— A ntonio Veciana’s sec­

retary at the Banco Financiero in Havana 
handed him a business card from a man 
waiting to see him . The name on the 
card was M aurice Bishop. Veciana does 
not rem em ber the name o f the business 
imprinted on the card but now believes 
it may have been a construction firm 
headquartered in Belgium. Veciana’s first 
thought was that his caller was a possible 
custom er for his bank.

The man who said he was M aurice 
Bishop did not lead Veciana to think 
otherw ise initially. Although he spoke 
excellent Spanish, Bishop said he was 
an American and wanted to talk with 
Veciana about the state o f the Cuban 
econom y and where it appeared to be 
going. They talked awhile, and around 
noon B ishop suggested  they continue 
over lunch. Bishop took Veciana to an 
expensive restaurant, the Floridita, once 
one o f Ernest Hem ingway’s favorites.

During their conversation at the res­
taurant, Veciana recalls. Bishop began 
to express concern about the Cuban gov­
ernm ent’s leaning toward Communism 
and let it be known that he was aware 
of Veciana’s feelings toward Castro. That 
surprised Veciana because he had told 
only a few close friends about his dis­
illusionm ent with C astro’s government. 
(Am ong those he told, however, were 
two who, it later becam e known, had 
direct contact with the CIA. One was his 
boss, Julio Lobo, who later in exile was 
designated to set up an “ independent”  
front com m ittee to raise $20 million for 
the return o f Bay o f Pigs prisioners, and 
the other was Rufo Lopez-Fresquet, who, 
for the first fourteen months o f the rev-
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olu tion , w as C a stro 's  M inister o f  the 
Treasury and the C IA 's liaison with the 
new governm ent.)

As their conversation  con tinued , it 
becam e obvious to Veciana that Bishop 
knew a good deal about him personally. 
It also became obvious that Bishop was 
not interested in V eciana’s banking ser­
vices but, rather, in recruiting him as a 
participan t in the grow ing m ovem ent 
against the Castro government. “ He tried 
to impress on me the seriousness of the 
situation,”  Veciana recalls.

V eciana w as ripe fo r rec ru itm en t. 
Through contacts high in governm ent, 
he had com e to the conclusion that C as­
tro, by m oving toward tighter control 
than even Batista, had betrayed the rev­
olution. Veciana had com e to despise 
him. He told Bishop that he was willing 
to work with him. Bishop offered to pay 
him for his services. Veciana told him 
that he did not need payment to fight 
against Castro but they could settle ac­
counts when the job  was over, if Bishop 
insisted. In the sum m er of 1960 Veciana 
did not think it would take long to topple 
Castro.

There w ere several m ore m eetings, 
and Veciana and Bishop got to know 
each other better. Finally, Bishop told 
Veciana that he would like him to take 
a “ training program ”  to prepare him for 
the work ahead. This turned out to be 
a series o f  nightly lectures and instruc­
tion in the nondescript office o f a build­
ing that Veciana recalls as being on El 
Vcdado, a com mercial strip. He rem em ­
bers seeing the name o f a m ining com ­
pany in the building and, on the ground 
floor, a branch o f the Berlitz school of 
languages.

Although he was given technical train­
ing in the use o f explosives and sabotage 
te ch n iq u e s , V e c ia n a ’s lessons dealt 
mainly with propaganda and psycholog­
ical warfare. “ Bishop told me several 
tim es,”  Veciana recalls, “ that psycho­
logical w arfare could help m ore than 
hundreds o f soldiers, thousands of sol­
d ie rs.”  Veciana was also trained in tech­
niques o f counterintelligence, surveil­
lance, and com m unications. The thrust 
o f his training was to make him profi­
cient not as a guerrilla operative but as 
a higher-echelon planner. As Veciana 
put it, “ The main purpose was to train 
me to be an organizer, so I was supposed 
to initiate a type o f action and other peo­
ple would be the ones who would really 
carry it o u t.”

The training sessions lasted only a few 
weeks. By that time Bishop and Veciana 
were concocting schemes to undermine 
C astro’s regim e. W ith Veciana’s con­
tacts in the Cuban governm ent, several 
plots were evolved to discredit key C om ­
munists and funnel the government’s own 
m oney into the hands o f  anti-C astro  
guerrillas. In one instance, Veciana suc­
cessfully schemed to get C astro’s top 
aide, Che G uevara, to sign a $200,000 
check, which, unknown to him , went to 
the underground. V eciana also set in 
motion a propaganda program that re­
sulted in destabilization of Cuban cur­

rency and public distrust in its value.
At B ishop’s direction, Veciana began 

taking a more active role in the organized 
underground m ovem ent. “ B ishop a l­
ways wanted to be kept inform ed about 
w hat w as going on w ith the various 
g roups,”  Veciana told me. With his su­
pervisory training and technical exper­
tise, Veciana soon becam e chief o f sab­
otage for one o f the largest underground 
groups, the M ovim ento Revolucionario 
del Pueblo, which was formed by Man- 
olo Ray and was the predecessor o f JURE. 
Like others in the underground m ove­
ment, Veciana used “ war nam es.”  One 
he used frequently was “ C arlos.”

Although M aurice Bishop refused to 
acknowledge to Veciana any connection

Although he was given 
technical training in the 

use of explosives and 
sabotage, Veciana’s 
lessons dealt mainly 

with propaganda and 
psychological warfare.

with the US governm ent, he was familiar 
with personnel in the American Embassy 
in Havana. Before the embassy was closed 
in January 1961, Bishop suggested that 
Veciana contact specific individuals there 
to get direct assistance and supplies for 
the anti-Castro m ovem ent. Bishop, how ­
ever, asked Veciana not to mention his 
name or the fact that Veciana had been 
sent by an Am erican. N or did Bishop 
indicate whether these individuals were 
intelligence agents.

One of the American Em bassy per­
sonnel Bishop suggested Veciana con­
tact was a “ Colonel K ail.”  Kail, who 
was in the A rm y, told Veciana the US 
governm ent could not directly support 
him in any way. But Kail said that he 
could assist with the issuance of pass­
ports and visas for plotters who wanted 
to escape. The American Embassy closed 
down shortly after Veciana last talked 
with Kail.

According to Veciana, Bishop left Cuba 
before the Bay o f Pigs invasion of April 
1961. He says he had not met with Bishop 
for some months prior to the invasion. 
However, after the Bay o f Pigs, Bishop 
returned to C uba (p robab ly , V eciana 
learned, with a Belgian passport). Ve­
ciana recalls that he and Bishop had long 
d iscussions about w hat had happened 
during the invasion. He says Bishop told 
him that K ennedy’s failure to provide 
air support was the key to the failure of 
the operation. Bishop felt a frustration 
about that because, accord ing  to V e­
ciana, “ at that tim e Bishop decided that 
the only thing left to be done was to 
make an attem pt on C astro’s life .”

It was decided to have Castro killed

during a scheduled public appearance on 
the balcony of the presidential palace in 
early  O ctober 1961. V eciana had his 
m other-in-law  rent an apartm ent on the 
eighth floor o f a building w ithin range 
of the balcony and then made arrange­
ments for her escape to the US by boat 
the day before the assassination attem pt. 
(He had flown his wife and children to 
Spain as a precaution as soon as he began 
plotting.) He then recruited the men to 
do the actual shooting and obtained the 
weapons. (Availability o f weapons was 
not a m ajor problem to the anti-Castro 
underground as a result o f  the supply air­
dropped by the US prior to the Bay of 
Pigs.) The apartm ent was stocked with 
autom atic rifles, grenade launchers, and 
a bazooka. A massive attack was planned 
so that all the key Castro aides on the 
balcony would also be killed.

Shortly before the scheduled attempt, 
Veciana learned that he was considered 
s u s p ic io u s  by C a s t r o ’s in te llig e n c e  
agency, the G2. His cousin, Guillermo 
Ruiz, a high-ranking G2 officer, asked 
him why he had been visiting the Am er­
ican Embassy. Veciana said it was only 
to see about obtaining passports for some 
friends. Ruiz said if that was the case, 
he had been using the wrong entrance. 
Veciana took this as a warning that he 
was still being watched. Bishop also told 
Veciana that C astro’s intelligence agents 
suspected Veciana o f subversive activity 
and that he should consider leaving Cuba.

The assassination attempt never came 
off because the triggerm en, fearing that 
the G2 had learned o f the plot, fled the 
apartm ent. (The G2 did know that som e­
thing was going to happen, but it was 
only later that it found the apartm ent and 
seized the w eapons.) The night before 
the planned attack, when V eciana was 
to have put his m other-in-law  aboard the 
escape boat, it was discovered that the 
landing site was under surveillance and 
the boat could not dock. Because his 
m other-in-law  couldn’t sw im , Veciana 
said later, he had to push her into the 
w ater and swim out to the boat with her. 
At that point, he decided that it was too 
dangerous to return to shore and that he 
would go with her to Miami.

Shortlyafter Veciana arrived in Miami, 
M aurice Bishop was back in touch with 
him. Soon they were meeting regularly 
and p lanning strategy  to continue the 
fight against Castro. The result was the 
founding o f Alpha 66— which, accord­
ing to Veciana, was Bishop’s brainchild. 
The nam e was a collaboration: A lpha 
was meant to sym bolize the beginning 
o f the end o f Castro and 66 represented 
the num ber o f fellow accountants Ve­
ciana recruited at the start o f his anti- 
Castro activities.

W hile Veciana established him self as 
Alpha 6 6 ’s chief executive officer and 
fund-raiser, he recruited as military leader 
a former Rebel Army officer, Major Eloy 
G utierrez M enoyo. A daring so ld ier, 
M enoyo had the reputation am ong Cu­
ban exiles o f being a Socialist. Veciana 
says Bishop expressed some doubts about 
his loyalty, but Veciana convinced Bishop 
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he could be trusted.
W ith  s tro n g  m a n a g e m e n t, c le v e r  

propaganda, influence with the media, 
skill in fund-ra ising , and expertise  in 
locating  w eapon caches and planning 
military operations. A lpha 66 soon was 
in the forefront o f the anti-Castro exile 
groups. Vcciana was all over the place, 
buying guns and boats, recruiting and 
o rg a n iz in g  tr a in in g  s i te s ,  m a k in g  
speeches, issuing public com muniques 
claim ing successful raids into Cuba. At 
one point Veciana announced he had a 
war chest o f $100,000 and that all the 
major exile organizations were backing 
Alpha 6 6 's  efforts. Except for one m inor 
slip, which no one paid any attention to 
at the tim e, Veciana gave not a hint to 
Alpha 66 associates that there was an 
American guiding his strategy. At a press 
conference recorded in the N ew  York 
Times on Septem ber 14, 1962, Veciana 
announced a series o f forthcom ing Alpha 
66 attacks and, in passing, added that 
the planning was being done by those 
“ 1 don 't even know .”

According to Veciana, the headaches 
that A lpha 66 created for President K en­
nedy before and during the Cuban mis­
sile c ris is  w ere p lanned  by M aurice 
Bishop. The tim ing o f the raids on Cuba 
at the height o f the missile crisis, when 
Kennedy was negotiating with Khrush­
chev, was Bishop’s idea. So was a press 
conference in W ashington after the crisis 
when Vcciana announced that A lpha 66 
had just attacked a Russian ship in a 
Cuban harbor and engaged in a firefight 
with Russian troops. The conference was 
planned at the time Kennedy was in Costa 
Rica trying to gain support for his new 
Cuban policy. “ The purpose was to em ­
barrass Kennedy publicly and force him 
to move against C astro ,”  Veciana now 
adm its.

Although M aurice Bishop often sug­
gested specific tactical m oves, he was 
more concerned with the overall strategy 
o f  Alpha 66 and V eciana’s anti-Castro 
activity. He was not in constant contact 
with Veciana. In fact, Veciana never saw 
him more than a dozen or so tim es in 
any one year.

The understanding between them—  
arrived at early in their relationship—  
and the arrangem ent they had for m eet­
ings were right out o f a covert-operations 
m anual. A lthough an unspoken trust 
developed, there was no true personal 
rela tionsh ip  betw een B ishop and V e­
ciana; no matters were discussed that did 
not bear upon their mutual anti-Castro 
mission.

E very  m eeting  w as in stig a ted  by 
Bishop. Bishop would call and set the 
time and place. Usually it was in a public 
place, on a com er or in a park, and they 
would walk and talk. Veciana rem em ­
bers meetings in H avana, however, that 
took place at a country club and, once, 
in an apartm ent across the street from 
the American Embassy. Later, if Ve­
ciana was in another city. Bishop would 
com e to his hotel. The m ajority o f his 
meetings with Bishop over the years were 
in Miami and Puerto Rico. Veciana as-
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sum ed that B ishop flew  in for these 
meetings because often Bishop would 
meet him in a rented car. Over the years, 
meetings with Bishop took place also in 
W ashington, Las Vegas, and Dallas and, 
during a period when Vcciana had a job 
in South Am erica, in Caracas, Lima, and 
La Paz.

During the most active period of Al­
pha 6 6 ’s operations, Veciana was con­
stantly on the move and, for security 
reasons, not very visible. At that time, 
Veciana told me, he made arrangements 
whereby Bishop could find out where 
he was at any moment. A third party, 
som eone V eciana trusted , was desig ­
nated as the link.

It took me three years to learn her 
identity and location, but when I did, 
the House A ssassinations Com mittee did 
not permit me to interview her. Even­
tually, a journalist did and confirmed 
what Veciana had said.

Shortly after Vcciana left Cuba, he had 
a revealing meeting with Maurice Bishop. 
They met on a downtown Miami street 
com er. Bishop spoke about how the fight

The arrangement they 
had for meetings was 
right out of a covert- 
operations manual. 
Every meeting was 

instigated by Bishop. He 
would call Veciana and 
set the time and place— 

on a corner or in a 
park—and they would 

walk and talk.

against Castro might be more difficult 
and last longer than they had envisioned, 
how he and Veciana would have to work 
together closely, and how they must de­
velop mutual trust and loyalty. Veciana 
agreed. W ould Veciana, Bishop asked, 
be willing to sign a contract to that ef­
fect? O f course, said Veciana. Bishop 
then led Veciana to the Pan American 
Bank Building, a five-story office struc­
ture in the heart o f M iam i’s business 
district. Veciana recalls that they took 
an elevator and that Bishop had the key 
to an unm arked office door. The office 
was spartanly furnished with a desk and 
a few chairs, and an American flag stood 
in one com er.

There was no one in the office when 
Bishop and Veciana entered. Bishop went 
through another door and returned with 
two men and some docum ents, which 
he asked V eciana to read and sign. Ve­
ciana believes the docum ents he signed 
were contracts and loyalty oaths. He was 
not given copies. He recalls that in the

contract was a space for a salary figure, 
which was left blank. Veciana now be­
lieves the incident was a “ com m itm ent”  
cerem ony. “ It was a pledge of my loy­
alty, a secret p ledge,”  he says. “ I think 
they wanted to impress on me my re­
sponsibility and my com mitm ent to the 
cause .”

Veciana had considered the possibility 
that Bishop worked for an intelligence 
agency other than the CIA. Among the 
most active US organizations monitoring 
an ti-C astro  activ ity  was Arm y In te lli­
gence. Veciana recalls being contacted 
in 1962, in Puerto Rico, by an American 
who called him self Patrick Harris. After 
several long conversations with him , 
Veciana came to the conclusion that he 
was in Army Intelligence. Harris told 
Veciana that he might be able to provide 
some support for V eciana’s anti-Castro 
activities but first wanted to inspect Al­
pha 6 6 ’s operational base in the Baha­
mas. Veciana cam e to trust Harris and 
provided him and several associates a 
tour o f  the base , over m ilitary  ch ief 
M enoyo’s objections. Harris never came 
through with any aid. “ I told Bishop 
about th a t,”  Veciana now says, “ and 
he told me not to bother with them , that 
they could not help me. He was righ t.”  

In 1968 M aurice Bishop helped Ve­
ciana get a job  with the US Agency for 
International Development (AID) in La 
Paz, Bolivia, as an adviser to Bolivia’s 
Central Bank. The job  paid well, and his 
checks cam e directly from the Treasury 
Departm ent in W ashington. “ I was very 
surprised I was hired, because I was a 
known te rro rist,”  Veciana says today. 
“ The State Department, which hired me, 
once ordered me confined to Dade County 
because o f my anti-Castro activity. Then 
in La Paz they put my office in the 
A m erican Em bassy. For sure. B ishop 
had very good connections.”

Veciana worked for AID for four years, 
receiving more than $31,000 a year to 
provide advice to B olivia’s banking in­
dustry. (It has since been learned that 
the CIA has used AID as a front in other 
instances, once getting one of its own 
proprietary com panies a multimillion- 
dollar AID contract to train Thailand’s 
border police.) Veciana says he did very 
little financial advising during the four 
years. Instead, he spent almost all his 
tim e in anti-Castro and anti-Communist 
activities directed by Bishop.

Bishop was interested in more than 
a ssass in a tin g  C astro . W ith B ish o p ’s 
blessing and financial support, Veciana 
traveled around Latin America, involv­
ing him self in propaganda ploys aimed 
at the character assassination o f leading 
Com m unist politicians and weakening 
the financial stability o f left-leaning gov­
ernm ents. (Once, when I was question­
ing V eciana about Bishop’s apparent in­
com petence based on the latter’s failures 
to assassinate Castro, Veciana simply 
smiled and said, “ No, we did not kill 
Castro, but there were many other plans, 
many other plots that did w ork .”  He 
would not elaborate.)
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Salvador Allende, M arxist President 
of C hile, was overthrown by a secret 
task force from  the CIA headed by 
David Atlee Phillips.

Early in 1971 Bishop told Veciana that 
Castro would probably be making a state 
visit to Chile late that year. He suggested 
that Veciana begin planning another as­
sassination attempt. “ He told m e ,”  Ve­
ciana says, “ that it was an opportunity 
to make it appear that anti-Castro Cubans 
killed Castro without US involvem ent.”

V eciana set up his planning head­
quarters in C aracas, w here the V ene­
zuelan bureaucracy is deeply infiltrated 
by both anti-Castro Cubans and the CIA 
and where Veciana knew an experienced 
group o f terrorists. Among them were 
two gunmen willing to do the killing. 
On its surface, the plan was relatively 
simple. It had become known that to­
ward the end o f his visit to Chile, Castro 
would hold a press conference attended 
by as many as 400 journalists. Press cre­
dentials for the two gunmen would be 
obtained from a Venezuelan TV station 
and, although there would be tight se­
curity, their weapons would be smug­
gled into the conference room inside a 
television camera.

M aurice Bishop had a major role in 
setting up the operation, according to 
Veciana: Bishop provided the weapons 
and made arrangem ents with officers in 
the Chilean military— which would be 
providing Castro security at the confer­
ence— for the assassins to be grabbed 
after killing Castro and arrested by Chil­
ean soldiers before the Cuban prem ier’s 
bodyguards could kill them. According 
to Veciana, Bishop said he would ar­
range the assassins’ escape from Chile 
later.

At that time the head o f the Chilean 
governm ent w as leftist P resident S al­
vador Allende. Two years later, in Sep­
tem ber 1973, Allende would be over­
thrown in a coup d ’etat. The overthrow 
o f Allende was supported and largely 
financed by the CIA and several Am er­
ican multinational corporations, chiefly

International Telephone & Telegraph. 
At one point the CIA set up a secret task 
force to work with Chilean military brass 
who opposed Allende. The chief of the 
task force was David Atlee Phillips.

The attempt to assassinate Castro in Chile 
failed because at the last mom ent the two 
gunmen decided they would never get 
out o f  the conference room alive; they 
did not believe that Veciana had made 
arrangem ents for their capture. Veciana 
could not tell them o f Bishop or how the 
arrangem ents had been made.

O ther anti-Castro Cubans whom Ve­
ciana had recruited in Caracas as part of 
the assassination plot had also not be­
lieved that Veciana had arranged an es­
cape for the shooters and had developed 
a subplo t, w ithout V ec iana’s know l­
edge. The subplot was based on the as­
sumption that the gunmen would them ­
se lv e s  be k ille d  im m e d ia te ly  a f te r  
assassinating  C astro . W hen the ex ist­
ence o f this subplot cam e to light, Ve­
ciana says, it produced the crack that 
eventually led to the end o f his relation­
ship with M aurice Bishop, in 1973.

Among the associates Veciana says 
he recruited in Caracas were two vet­
erans o f the war against Castro— Lucilo 
Pena and Luis Posada. Both have back­
grounds as men o f action.

Pena, the general director o f a major 
chemical firm , had once been involved 
in Alpha 6 6 ’s “ Plan O m ega,”  a plot to 
invade Cuba from a base in the D om in­
ican Republic. W hen I interviewed Po­
sada in 1978, he was in jail in Caracas—  
having been arrested, with a well-known 
exile terrorist. Dr. Orlando Bosch, for 
blowing up a Cubana Airlines plane and 
killing 73 persons, including many Rus­
sians. He was a veteran of the Bay of 
Pigs, a m em ber o f JU RE, a form er lieu­
tenant in the US Army (where he was 
trained in intelligence), a form er agent 
for the CIA , and, until his arrest, the 
ow ner o f a successful private-detective 
agency in Caracas. In 1971, when Ve­
ciana was working with him , he was 
chief o f security and counterintelligence 
in the Venezuelan secret police.

According to Veciana, it was Pena 
and Posada who provided the necessary 
credentials and docum ents that enabled 
the two gunm en to establish false iden­
tities and get into place in Chile in 1971. 
What they also did— without telling him, 
says Veciana— was plant phony docu­
ments so that the trail o f the two men 
who were going to assassinate Castro 
would lead, if they were caught and killed, 
to Russian agents in Caracas.

Lengthy false surveillance reports were 
slipped into the files o f the Venezuelan 
secret police, indicating that the Cubans 
had been seen m eeting Russian agents, 
one o f whom was a correspondent for 
Izvestia  and another a professor at the 
University o f Central Venezuela. Also 
in the file were manufactured passports, 
diaries, and notes allegedly found in one 
gu n m an ’s hotel room , confirm ing  his 
contact with Russian agents. Intended 
to be the most dam aging evidence was

a photograph showing what appeared to 
be one o f the gunmen leaning into a car 
window and talking with one o f  the Rus­
sian agents. Actually, the photo was o f 
another Cuban who resembled the gun­
man. W ithout being told the reason for 
it, this Cuban had been instructed to stop 
the Russian agent’s car as he left his 
home in the morning, lean in, and ask 
him for a match. A telephoto shot was 
taken o f this encounter.

More than two years after failure of 
the plot to assassinate Castro, Maurice 
Bishop learned of the subplot. He was 
furious, Veciana says. He accused Ve­
ciana o f taking part in the planning of 
it or, at the very least, knowing about 
it and keeping it a secret from him. Ve­
ciana insisted then, as he does now, that 
he had been unaware o f the secondary 
scheme. He says Bishop later said that 
he believed Veciana but that in any fu­
ture operations the scar of his early sus­
picion would linger. Considering the type 
o f  operations in w hich they w ere in­
volved, Bishop said, a relationship that 
was less than totally trustworthy would 
be no good. He suggested that they sever

The overthrow of 
Salvador Allende was 
supported and largely 

financed by the CIA and 
several American 

multinational 
corporations, chiefly 

International Telephone 
& Telegraph.

their relationship.
At the tim e, Veciana was insisting on 

further terrorist action— he may already 
have instituted some him self— and call­
ing for m ore dangerous assassination  
attem pts. Perhaps B ishop feared that 
Veciana was getting out of hand. Then, 
in D ecem ber 1973, Veciana was sent to 
prison, and at the tim e Veciana believed 
that Bishop had had som ething to do 
with it.

At the tim e o f my first interview with 
Veciana, he had just spent 27 months 
in a federal prison on a charge o f con­
spiracy to import narcotics. He was con­
victed in a New York federal court, largely 
on the testim ony o f a form er partner with 
whom he had been in the sporting-goods 
business in Puerto R ico. The form er 
partner, arrested with ten kilos o f co­
caine, implicated Veciana. In doing so, 
he avoided a long jail term himself. He 
was the only witness against Veciana, 
who m aintains his innocence.

There is no indication from any source, 
including the confidential records o f sev­
eral law-enforcem ent agencies, that Ve­
ciana had any association with narcotics 
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Lee Harvey Oswald was flamboyantly conspicuous in New Orleans during  
the sum m er o f 1963, advocating a pro-Castro stance for the US through his 
“ Fair Play for Cuba C om m ittee.”

prior to his arrest. In the bitterly com ­
petitive world o f Cuban exile politics, 
Veciana’s reputation is unspotted.

At the tim e o f the first in terv iew , 
Veciana was defensive in his attitude and 
somewhat confused. He hinted that what 
had happened to him was directly con­
nected with his relationship with M aur­
ice Bishop. He suggested the possibility 
that his final d isagreem ents w ith him 
might have caused Bishop to take steps 
to put him out o f action. T hat’s why, he 
said, he wanted to find Bishop and con­
front him with that possibility. Then he 
would know.

Over the m onths following that inter­
view I watched Veciana change. Soon 
the tentativeness, the cautious wariness, 
the prison gray in his eyes began to fade 
as he resum ed  his pa tria rch a l co n fi­
dence, began m oving in his old circles, 
and got back into anti-Castro activity. 
As he did, his feeling about Bishop’s 
involvement in his going to prison began 
to change. One day he told me he was 
sure he had been set up by Castro’s agents. 
He still wanted to find Bishop, he said, 
but now for a different reason: Bishop 
could again be o f some help to him.

When Bishop told Veciana he would 
like to sever their relationship, he also 
said he thought that Veciana deserved 
co m p en sa tio n  for w ork ing  w ith  him 
through the years. Because Veciana had 
initially rejected the idea o f being paid 
to fight Castro. Bishop had only pro­
vided him with expense money. Now 
Bishop insisted that Veciana be com ­
pensated for the thirteen years he had 
worked with him.

It was July 26. 1973. Veciana recalls 
com m enting to his wife that day on the 
irony o f the date and its association with 
C a stro ’s ow n m ovem ent. B ishop had 
called and asked Veciana to meet him 
in the parking lot of the Flagler Dog 
Track, not far from V eciana's home. The 
parking lot was crowded. Veciana spot­
ted Bishop waiting in a car at the des­
ignated spot. Bishop got out o f the car 
with a briefcase. W ith him were two 
clean-cut young men in dark suits. The 
men stood out of earshot while Bishop 
and Veciana spoke. Bishop said that he 
regretted that their relationship had to 
end but that it would be best for both 
o f them in the long run. He shook Ve­
ciana’s hand and wished him luck. Then 
he handed him the briefcase. In it, he 
said, was the com pensation that was due 
Veciana. W hen Veciana got home he 
opened the briefcase. It was filled with 
cash. Exactly $253,000, says Veciana.

That, says Veciana, was the last time 
he saw or spoke with M aurice Bishop.

It is not generally known but there is a 
period o f Lee Harvey O sw ald’s stay in 
New O rleans that is largely undocu­
m ented. On A ugust 9 , 1963, O sw ald 
was arrested after distributing pro-Castro 
leaflets and scuffling with anti-Castro 
activist Carlos Bringuier. On August 16, 
Oswald was seen again, passing out leaf­
lets in front o f the New Orleans Trade 
Mart; his activity was shown that eve-
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ning on television newscasts. On August 
25, Oswald had a radio debate with Brin­
guier arranged by New Orleans broad­
caste r W illiam  S tuckey , a self-sty led  
“ Latin-Am erican-affairs expert.”  De­
spite the fact that Oswald seemingly went 
out o f his way to court such public at­
tention as a Castro supporter, as soon 
as he got it he im m ediately dropped out 
o f sight. Between August 25 and Sep­
tem ber 17, there is no validated indi­
cation o f O sw ald 's whereabouts.

Aside from a visit to the home of his 
aunt and uncle on Labor Day, M arina 
Oswald said her husband spent this time 
reading books and practicing with his 
rifle . T hrough the years, M arina O s­
w ald’s testim ony has been inconsistent, 
contradictory, and sometim es false. The 
House Assassinations Com m ittee found 
several credible witnesses who saw Os­
wald during this period in Clinton. Lou­
isiana, about 130 miles from New Or­
leans, during a black voter-registration 
drive. W ith him were David Ferrie, who 
had been involved in anti-Castro activ­
ity, and New Orleans businessman Clay 
Shaw, who had intelligence-agency con­
nections. The Com m ittee could not de­
term ine what Oswald had been doing in 
C linton, but there was no doubt he had 
been there.

The W arren Com mission had found 
records that it said accounted for some 
o f O sw ald’s activity during this period 
o f late August and September. None of 
these records could be later authenticated 
and some were discovered to be false. 
He reportedly visited the unemployment 
o ffic e , cashed  som e unem ploym ent 
checks, and withdrew a num ber of li­
brary books. The FBI could not authen­
ticate O sw ald’s signature on the unem­

ploym ent docum ents. O f the seventeen 
firms where he reported he had applied 
for work, thirteen denied it and four did 
not exist. Even if one trusts such records, 
there is one span o f tim e, between Sep­
tem ber 6 and September 9, when his 
whereabouts are not known.

Initially, Antonio Veciana recalled that 
it was late in August or early September 
o f 1963 when Bishop asked to meet him 
in Dallas. Later, after reflection, he said 
it was probably in early Septem ber, per­
haps towards the end o f the first week 
of the month.

It was not the first time that Bishop 
had asked Veciana to meet him in Dallas. 
He had met him there a num ber of times 
prev iously . P artially  because o f that, 
Veciana had com e to suspect that Bishop 
was from Dallas or had family there. 
M oreover, he recalled the time in Ha­
vana when Bishop sent him to talk to a 
Colonel Sam Kail at the American Em­
bassy. The last time Veciana saw Kail 
was prior to Christmas in 1960, when 
Kail said he would consider V eciana's 
request for support but w ould like to 
discuss it further with him when he re­
turned from his Christmas leave. Kail 
told Veciana he was going home to Dal­
las for C hristm as. W hen V eciana re­
ported back to Bishop, he got the impres­
sion that Bishop knew Kail, or at least 
his background, and that they had some­
thing in com m on. In my very first in­
terview with Veciana, he said, “ 1 think 
that maybe Bishop is from T exas.”

The meeting that Veciana recalls with 
Bishop early in September of 1963 took 
place in the busy lobby o f a large down­
town office building. From V eciana’s 
description o f its distinctive blue-tile fa-
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cade, it probably was the Southland Cen­
ter, a 42-story office complex. Veciana 
says that when he arrived, he saw Bishop 
in a corner of the lobby talking with a 
young man whom Veciana remembers 
as pale, slight, and soft-featured. He does 
not recall if Bishop introduced him by 
name but does recall that Bishop con­
tinued his conversation with the young 
man only briefly after Veciana arrived. 
Together Bishop and the young man 
walked out of the lobby and stopped 
outside, behind Veciana, for a moment. 
Bishop and the young man had a few 
words there, and then the latter gestured 
a farewell and walked away. Bishop then 
turned to Veciana and they discussed the 
current activities of Alpha 66 as they 
walked to a nearby coffee shop. Bishop 
never spoke to Veciana about the young 
man, and Veciana didn't ask.

On the day that Kennedy was assas­
sinated, Veciana recognized the news 
photographs and television images of Lee 
Harvey Oswald as that of the young man 
he had seen with Maurice Bishop in 
Dallas; there was no doubt in his mind. 
When I asked him if the man could have 
been someone who resembled Oswald, 
Veciana said: ‘Well, you know. Bishop 
himself taught me how to remember faces, 
how to remember characteristics. 1 am

On the day that Kennedy 
was assassinated, Veciana 

recognized the news 
photographs of Lee 

Harvey Oswald as the 
young man he had seen 

with Maurice Bishop
in Dallas.

sure it was Oswald. If it wasn't Oswald,
it was someone who looked exactly like

•«

him. Exacto, exacto.”

To anyone unfamiliar with the relation­
ships among those who work in intel­
ligence, government security, or some 
areas of law enforcement, it would seem 
incredible that Veciana did not ask or 
even mention Oswald to Bishop after the 
Kennedy assassination. Yet to those fa­
miliar with such relationships, it would 
seem peculiar if he had. One of the car­
dinal principles of security operations 
is that information is passed on or sought 
after only on a “ need-to-know" basis. 
Many employees at Langley who have 
known each other for years, go to lunch 
together daily, and have become close 
personal friends may not know what the 
other actually does there— and would 
never ask. That's the way it is. Veciana 
did not ask Bishop about Oswald.

“ I was not going to make the mistake 
of getting myself involved in something 
that did not concern me," he says. He

recalls, however, feeling very uneasy at 
the time. “ That was a very difficult sit­
uation because I was afraid."

What increased Veciana’s fear of his 
possibly becoming involved in the Ken­
nedy assassination was a visit to his home 
by Cesar Diosdato within a few days of 
the murder. Diosdato ostensibly worked 
for the US Customs Service in Key West. 
He was a well-known figure among the 
anti-Castro activists in Miami because, 
technically, it was in the Custom’s Ser­
vice jurisdiction to prevent violations of 
the Neutrality Act, which occurred every 
time an anti-Castro raiding party took 
off from Miami or the Keys. With a 
radio-equipped patrol car, the pistol­
packing Diosdato, a beefy, mustachioed 
Mexican-American, roamed the Keys like 
a traffic cop, monitoring the launching 
sites of the exile raiding groups. He didn’t 
stop them all, and the word among anti- 
Castro raiders active during JM/WAVE’S 
secret war was that no group could launch 
an attack from the Florida Keys without 
permission from Diosdato. “ He gave us 
the green light, " one former group leader 
told me. “ Without word from him, we 
couldn't go." As a result, most of the 
Cubans thought Diosdato was really 
working for the CIA.

Veciana did. That’s why he was ap­
prehensive when Diosdato asked him if 
he knew anything about the Kennedy 
assassination or Lee Harvey Oswald. 
Veciana says he recognized him because 
he had frequently gone to Key West to 
get clearance from Diosdato. It was not 
an “ official" visit, Diosdato now told 
Veciana. “ He said he had been in­
structed to ask a few of the exiles if they 
knew anything, that's all," Veciana re­
calls.

Veciana did not ask himself why a US 
Customs agent would be investigating 
the Kennedy assassination among Miami 
Cubans and come from Key West to do 
it. It crossed Veciana’s mind that he was 
being tested. In any event, he decided 
he was not going to tell Diosdato any­
thing.

Several weeks later Bishop called 
Veciana to arrange a meeting in Miami. 
At that meeting Bishop never mentioned 
Oswald or the encounter in Dallas. They 
did speak about the Kennedy assassi­
nation, but their discussion was confined 
to the event’s impact on the world and 
on their anti-Castro activities. Bishop, 
says Veciana, appeared saddened by the 
assassination. Yet he said something that 
suggested a strange sort of involvement.

The way Veciana recalls it is this: At 
the time, newspapers were carrying sto­
ries about Oswald’s having met with a 
Cuban couple in Mexico City. Veciana 
recalls that the stories reported that the 
wife spoke excellent English. Bishop said 
he knew Veciana had a cousin, Guil­
lermo Ruiz, who was in Castro's intel­
ligence service and was stationed in 
Mexico City. Ruiz’s wife spoke excel­
lent English. Bishop asked Veciana if 
he would attempt to get in touch with 
Ruiz and offer him a large amount of 
money if Ruiz would say that it was he

and his wife who had met with Oswald.
Veciana took it as a ploy that might 

work because, as he puts it, “ Ruiz was 
someone who always liked money." 
Bishop, he says, did not specify how 
much Ruiz should be offered, only that 
it should be “ a huge amount." Veciana, 
however, was never able to present the 
offer to his cousin because Ruiz had been 
transferred back to Havana and Veciana 
could not find a safe way to contact him. 
A couple of months later, when he men-

Bishop asked Veciana to 
try to get in touch with 
Ruiz and offer him a 

large amount of money to 
say that it was he and his 

wife who had met 
with Oswald.

tioned his difficulties to Bishop, Veciana 
says that Bishop told him to forget it. 
“ He told me it was no longer neces­
sary," Veciana recalls. That was the last 
reference he and Bishop ever made to 
the Kennedy assassination.

In May 1964, John A. McCone, then 
director of the Central Intelligence 
Agency, provided an affidavit to the 
Warren Commission in which he swore 
that, based on his personal knowledge 
and on “ detailed inquiries he caused to 
be made" within the CIA, Lee Harvey 
Oswald was not an agent, employee, or 
informant of the CIA. In addition, 
McCone swore: “ Lee Harvey Oswald 
was never associated or connected, di­
rectly or indirectly, in any way what­
soever with the Agency."

On March 12, 1964, Richard Helms, 
then deputy director for plans (DDP) of 
the CIA, met with Warren Commission 
General Counsel J. Lee Rankin. Helms 
was in charge of the Agency's covert 
operations. The minutes of that meeting 
show that Helms told Rankin that “ the 
Commission would have to take his word 
for the fact that Oswald had not been an 
agent" of the CIA.

More than ten years later, in Novem­
ber 1975, the Senate Select Committee 
on Intelligence issued a report which 
concluded that Helms had deliberately 
kept secret from his boss, McCone, the 
existence of certain covert operations.

In that light, the implications of what 
Antonio Veciana revealed on March 2, 
1976, had historic relevance: That an 
individual— Maurice Bishop— appar­
ently associated with the CIA, was in 
contact with Lee Harvey Oswald prior 
to the assassination of President Ken­
nedy. And that this CIA operative was 
involved in Castro-assassination at­
tempts in which, for some reason, the 
Agency was not admitting participation.

https://ratical.org/GaetonFonzi



jn
In Search of Maurice Bishop

The discovery of Antonio Veciana could 
not have com e at a worse time for Sen­
ator Church and the Com m ittee staff. 
Church had told the staff, which had 
already gone beyond its deadline more 
than once, it was getting its absolutely 
final extension, another month to finish 
up the Schweiker report. Church was 
anxious to get into the 1976 presidential 
sweepstakes. The Church Committee had 
gotten attention with its reports on as­
sassination plots against foreign leaders 
and illegal intelligence-agency snoop­
ing, and now he had other priorities.

Senator Schweiker had recognized the 
significance o f V eciana’s story both in 
relation to the Kennedy assassination and, 
as Paul Hoch had suggested, to whether 
or not the CIA had been honest with the 
C om m ittee about all its C astro  plots. 
Schweiker thought the new information 
was explosive enough to reopen hear­
ings. On that, he ran into a stone wall 
with both Church and the staff leaders.

Schweiker was upset. In a letter to 
subcom m ittee co-chairm an Gary Hart, 
b u t o b v io u s ly  d ire c te d  at C h u rc h , 
Schweiker wrote: “ I feel strongly Ve­
ciana should be called to testify under 
oath, to evaluate his credibility, create 
an official record of his allegations, and 
examine them. . . .  I recognize that this 
involves some difficulty at this stage of 
our proceeding, but in view o f Veciana’s 
direct link to in te lligence-com m unity  
activities subject to the Select Com m it­
tee’s jursidiction, I do not believe we 
can responsibly refuse to evaluate his 
allegations.”

That put the Com m ittee on the spot. 
I called Dave M arston in Schw eiker’s 
office to ask him what was going to hap­
pen. “ W ell, I think they 'll do som e­
th ing ,”  he said. “ I think what they’ll 
do is screw it up. I think they’ll go the 
most direct way— that is, make an of­
ficial inquiry. So then there will be an 
official inquiry and if there is anything 
there, it'll be g o n e .”

T hat’s what the Com m ittee staff did. 
I was asked to bring Veciana to W ash­
ington, where he was sworn in at a closed 
hearing and questioned by a staff attor­
ney for less than an hour. Only the barest 
details o f his story got on the record. A 
transcript o f the hearing would go into 
restricted-security files. Not a word about 
it would be m entioned in any of the In­
te llig en ce  C o m m ittee ’s rep o rts . The 
question  o f  w hether the CIA w as in­
volved in V eciana’s attem pts to assas­

sinate Castro in Cuba and again in Chile 
was not confron ted . V eciana was not 
asked about them.

To my frustration and that o f his other 
staff m em bers, Schw eiker was scrupu­
lous about keeping from us the details 
of the C om m ittee’s work. Nevertheless 
I could deduce what the C om m ittee’s 
efforts to follow up the Veciana testi­
mony were producing.

For instance, the CIA told the Com ­
mittee it had no em ployee named M aur­
ice Bishop and no record o f any agent 
ever using that alias. I also deduced, 
from a discussion with an Army Intel­
ligence “ asset”  I had been sent to in­
terview in New O rleans, that the CIA 
told the C om m ittee that V eciana and 
Alpha 66 had been monitored not by the 
A gency but by A rm y Intelligence. I 
thought this was a misdirection. I pointed 
out that Veciana had been aware o f his 
contacts with Army Intelligence, that they 
covered only a limited period of his anti- 
Castro activities, and that they were dis­
tinct from his relationship with M aurice 
Bishop. After the CIA denied an interest 
in Veciana, the Com m ittee pursued the 
Army Intelligence angle until the end.

Schw eiker could see what was hap­
pening. It becam e apparent that if we 
left it to the Com m ittee to pursue the 
V e c ia n a  le ad  it w o u ld  d ie .  D ave 
N ew hall, S chw eiker’s adm inistra tive 
assistant and a form er investigative re­
porter himself, called me. “ We just don’t 
seem to be able to get through to the 
Com m ittee staff about the significance 
of th is ,”  he said. “ T hey’re good Wall 
Street-type lawyers but they don’t have 
street smarts and they don ’t have enough 
background in this case. Besides, most 
of them are packing their bags and look­
ing around for other jobs by now. I think 
w e’d better start m oving on our o w n .”

It was the first indication I had that 
Schw eiker w as w illing  to pursue the 
Kennedy-assassination investigation be­
yond the life o f  the Select Com mittee 
and his own subcom m ittee. To his credit 
and against the grain o f  senatorial pro­
tocol, Schweiker chased the Veciana lead 
for months beyond his subcom m ittee’s 
dem ise and even beyond the issuance o f 
its final report. It was only after Reagan 
strategists lured him into a sacrificial role 
as a vice-presidential candidate that he 
decided to drop it.

Also to Schw eiker’s credit in pursuing 
the Veciana lead was the fact that it d i­
rectly contradicted the thesis being pushed

in his own subcom m ittee’s report. The 
report revealed that the Warren C om ­
mission had not been told of the Castro 
assassination plots by the CIA, and sug­
gested that it was possible that Castro 
killed Kennedy in retaliation for those 
plots. The Veciana lead ran counter to 
the Castro-retaliation theory. Rather, it 
linked Osw ald to US intelligence.

W hat I considered a factor in judging 
V eciana’s credibility was his own feel­
ings about the Kennedy assassination.
I had spoken to a num ber o f anti-Castro 
exile leaders, most still dedicated and 
many fanatically determ ined to get rid 
o f the Cuban dictator. N one, I have come 
to believe, were more deeply com mitted 
than Veciana. Yet alm ost to a man these 
exile leaders touted the same theory about 
the Kennedy assassination: Castro did 
it. They knew little o f the evidence or 
the facts; they knew only that Castro did 
it.

Except Veciana. Down through the 
years, I have discussed various theories 
about the K ennedy assassination  with 
him and he has been consistent in his 
reaction: “ I don ’t think Castro did i t ,”  
he says. “ I know Castro. He is crazy. 
Once, when he was down to his last 
twelve men in the m ountains, he said, 
‘Now there is no way we can lose!’ He 
is crazy, but he did not kill Kennedy. 
That would have been much too crazy. 
1 think it was a plan, su re .”  By “ a p lan” 
Veciana means a conspiracy.

The office o f a US senator carries, in 
itself, a certain am ount o f clout. But a 
senator does not have subpoena power, 
a punitive force, or the right to demand 
answers from anyone. N evertheless, in 
term s o f  substan tive investigation  re­
sults, Schw eiker’s staff would accom ­
plish more in the Veciana area in a few 
months than the House A ssassinations 
Com m ittee would in two years.

The question from the beginning: Was 
Veciana telling the truth? There were 
parts o f his story that would be difficult, 
if not im possible, to corroborate. There 
were many other parts that could be eas­
ily checked. Confirmation of these would 
be an indication of his credibility.

His background checked out, as did 
his professional standing and his posi­
tion in the Havana banking system. An 
official Cuban governm ent newspaper 
detailed his role in the 1961 Castro as­
sassination attem pt and confirmed the 
details as V eciana had reported . His 
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Richard Schw eiker’s aide David M arston, later a controversial appointee of 
Jim m y Carter to be US attorney for Philadelphia, predicted what the 
Church Com m ittee would do with Antonio V eciana’s startling testimony: 
“ T hey’ll screw it u p .”

founding o f Alpha 66 and his anti-Castro 
activities were part o f the records from 
that period.

There were a few pieces o f special 
significance. One o f the points that Ve­
ciana him self made about the influence 
o f Maurice Bishop and his obvious con­
nection with the US governm ent was the 
fact that Bishop had gotten him a posi­
tion with the US Agency for Interna­
tional Developm ent despite V eciana’s 
docum ented record as an anti-Castro ter­
rorist. During this tim e, the Bishop plan 
to assassinate Castro in Chile was de­
veloped in Caracas. Schweiker asked the 
US State Departm ent to check its files. 
The State Departm ent wired its confir­
mation from La Paz: Veciana did work 
as a “ com m ercial banking expert”  for 
B oliv ia’s Central Bank, the telegram  re­
ported. His contracts were financed by 
AID . They were for the salary and for 
the tim e period Veciana said they were. 
During this period he claim ed a legal 
residence in Caracas.

The State Departm ent telegram also 
contained, in passing, an unusual reve­
lation. V eciana’s application for federal 
em ploym ent, it noted, had an unexplain­
able omission: It was unsigned.

T here w ere m any o ther aspects o f 
V eciana’s story that, as I checked into 
them , added to his credibility. For in­
stance, a confidential source, a veteran 
o f  the US Custom s office in M iam i, told 
me that Cesar D iosdado, the Customs 
agent who had questioned Veciana briefly 
about the Kennedy assassination, was 
indeed working for the CIA in Key W est, 
as Veciana had suspected. Customs was 
reportedly reim bursed for his salary by 
the CIA. This was confirm ed by another 
source, who was close to the form er head 
o f the local Custom s office. (Diosdado 
is now  w ith  the  D rug  E n fo rc e m e n t 
Adm inistration in California.)

Another key factor in V eciana’s story 
is h is  s ta te m e n t th a t he w as g iv e n  
$253,000 in cash by Bishop at the ter­
mination o f their relationship. When 1 
asked if he could prove he had the money 
or what he did with it, he said that he 
could show how he disbursed it through 
s e v e ra l  c h a n n e ls  b u t th a t  S e n a to r  
Schw eiker would first have to guarantee 
him imm unity from action by the Inter­
nal Revenue Service. Schw eiker could 
not do that. As a result, when V eciana’s 
sworn testim ony was taken before the 
Senate Select Com m ittee, at V eciana’s 
request that area o f  question ing  was 
om itted. (He would later also refuse to 
show  the H ouse A ssassinations C om ­
mittee proof o f his disbursem ent o f the 
m oney w ithout being given im m unity 
from IRS action.)

Another point I thought could be read­
ily checked was the existence o f specific 
individuals at the American Embassy in 
Havana— the individuals Bishop had sent 
Veciana to see.

I was talking with the late Paul Bethel 
in Coconut Grove one day. Bethel was 
a righ t-w inger, once a congressional 
candidate, an author, and the head of the 
US Information Agency in Havana when
184 The Washingtonian!November 1980

Castro took over. I asked Bethel if  he 
reca lled  a fe llow  nam ed K ail at the 
American Em bassy. “ S u re ,”  said Be­
thel. “ I knew Sam well. M ilitary at­
tache. I believe he 's  retired now, prob­
ably back home in D allas.”

Sam Kail was listed in the Dallas tele­
phone directory. W hen 1 told Veciana 
I had found him , Veciana said, “ You 
know , I would like to call him. Perhaps 
he rem em bers B ishop .”  He suggested 
I listen to the call. “ Do you remember 
m e?”  Veciana asked Kail after he had 
introduced himself. Kail seemed hesitant 
and cautious. “ W ell, I ’m not su re ,”  he 
said.

“ R em em ber,”  coaxed Veciana, “ the 
last time I saw you, in Decem ber 1960, 
you were going home for C hristm as.”  

Kail said, “ Yes, I did com e home that 
C hristm as.”

“ Then you rem em ber m e?”
No, Kail said, he couldn’t remember. 
“ At any r a te ,”  V eciana w ent on, 

“ I am trying to find a friend, the A m er­
ican who sent me to you. He was a big 
help to me in fighting Castro. Now 1 
need to find him . Do you rem em ber 
M aurice B ishop?”

K a il w as s i le n t  fo r  a m o m e n t. 
“ B ish o p ?”  he asked . M ore s ilence. 
“ B ishop ,”  he said again. Finally, Kail 
said that o ff the top o f his head he d idn 't 
recall the nam e, but he would like to 
give it more thought. He said he would 
think about it for a day or two and then 
call Veciana back.

Kail never called Veciana. A couple 
o f weeks later I suggested to Veciana 
that he call Kail again. He did and Kail 
said he had given some thought to the 
name o f  the American that Veciana had 
asked him about, but he couldn’t recall 
knowing anyone named Maurice Bishop, 
or anyone nam ed B ishop w ho fit the

description Veciana had given. Sorry he 
couldn 't be o f any help, said Kail.

During the remaining months o f Schwei­
ker’s investigation. I showed Veciana 
more than a dozen photographs of people 
who cam e close to fitting his description 
o f M aurice Bishop. Some were sent by 
the staff o f the Select Com m ittee and, 
1 assum ed, were mostly Army Intelli­
gence operatives. M ost o f  the ones I dug 
up were people who, at some point or 
other— and usually at not more than one 
point— had been in the right place at the 
right tim e and had some association with 
the CIA or Oswald or investigations of 
the Kennedy assassination.

Part o f  the problem initially was that 
it was hard to get from Veciana a handle 
on B ishop ’s physical characteristics. 
Veciana had known and been in contact 
with Bishop over a period of thirteen 
years. The man had obviously changed 
and V eciana’s current mental image of 
him was an am algam of those changes. 
It had occurred  to me in listening to 
Veciana describe Bishop as he appeared 
at the many meetings through the years 
that perhaps B ishop  used sm all d is ­
guises, which changed his appearance 
only slightly but were enough to raise 
doubts about his identity in the mind of 
anyone who happened to see him with 
Veciana.

Although V eciana's general descrip­
tion o f Bishop may appear to have been 
a bit blurred, he did provide discrim i­
nating details that made Bishop a spe­
cific character. He said, for instance, 
that B ishop was alw ays a m eticulous 
dresser, neat and well-groomed. In his 
later years, he wore glasses more often, 
but took them off to rum inate, putting 
the stem to his lips. He was usually tanned 
and under his eyes there was a blotchi-
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ness, a spotty darkness, as if from being 
in the sun too long. He had brown hair, 
later given to some gray. He was a good- 
looking man.

At our initial meeting, Veciana seemed 
sincere enough when he said he wanted 
to find M aurice Bishop. He seemed de­
term ined then to find out if  the reason 
for his being in prison was a result of 
his relationship with Bishop. Veciana 
said that as soon as he was settled down 
and out from under the restrictions of 
parole and free to travel again, he was 
going to have an artist make a sketch of 
Bishop from a description he would pro­
vide. That, he said, might help him in 
looking for Bishop.

1 d idn’t think much about that idea 
until I had shown Veciana a score of 
photographs and gotten negative results 
so abruptly. Then I realized that although 
each o f the suspects had at least one 
characteristic that fit V eciana’s descrip­
tion of Bishop, a com prehensive image 
would have elim inated the suspects im ­
m ediately . V eciana agreed. A p ro fes­
siona lly  d raw n  com posite  sketch  o f 
M aurice Bishop would help narrow the 
focus.

Security was one o f my main concerns 
from the beginning. Cuban-exile politics 
in M iami has its share o f fanatics as well 
as professional assassins, as the pattern 
o f bom bings and am bushes in L ittle 
Havana through the years shows. A few 
m onths before 1 first spoke with V e­
ciana, an exile leader named Rolando 
M asferrer, known as El Tigre when he 
headed B atista’s secret police, condoned 
the rash of bom bings in a local magazine 
article. “ You do not beg for freedom ,”  
he wrote, “ you conquer it . . .  In the 
m ean tim e, dynam ite  can speak  in a 
uniquely eloquent m anner.' ’ A week later, 
half o f M asferrer was found in what re­
mained o f  his car when he tried to start 
it. A uniquely eloquent retort.

Veciana agreed that it would be pru­
dent to have the com posite sketch of 
M aurice Bishop done outside the Miami 
area. Through a contact in a police de­
partm ent in another city, I arranged for 
Veciana to spend most of a day with its 
best com posite artist. I had given the 
police artist a rough description of Bishop 
by telephone before we arrived so that 
he had been able to make some prelim ­
inary sketches to use as a base. Veciana 
then spent a couple of hours going through 
about 300 police mug shots and picking 
out individual features from  those that 
cam e closest to resem bling  B ish o p ’s. 
“ The problem ,”  V eciana sighed as he 
flipped through the mug shots, “ is all 
these ind iv iduals look like crim inals. 
Bishop, he was a gentlem an. He looked  
like a gen tlem an.”

V eciana’s session with the police ar­
tist caused him to focus much more in­
tensely on B ishop’s specific features. He 
described, for instance, a distinctive lower 
lip, a nose straight but not sharp, a face 
longer than it was round, and— again, 
perhaps the m ost strik ing feature— a 
darkened area under the eyes. Veciana 
said that all o f B ishop’s face appeared
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a bit suntanned most o f the tim e, but that 
the area under his eyes looked almost 
leathery.

It was late in the afternoon when the 
police artist finished a sketch that Ve- 
ciana proclaimed was “ pretty goo d .”  
The artist had w arned that com posite 
sketches aren 't m eant to be exact resem ­
blances o f  ind iv iduals. They are d e ­
signed to elicit a chain o f recall in w it­
nesses and spark recollection o f  images 
that lead to some suspects and elim inate 
others. Veciana said the sketch o f Bishop 
was not really what Bishop looked like, 
but he appeared to be satisfied that it was 
“ clo se .”

Veciana returned to M iam i, and the 
next m orning I took the Bishop sketch 
and copies o f it to Schw eiker’s office in 
W ashington . D ave N ew hall looked at 
the sketch with a new fascination. “ You 
know , it looks exactly like I thought it 
w ould from  the descrip tion  we w ere 
working o n ,”  he said. “ 1 think the boss 
will want to see this right aw ay .”

Schw eiker was attending a hearing o f 
the Senate health subcom m ittee, one of 
his perm anent posts. We got word to 
him and, during a break in the hearing, 
we huddled in a corner o f the anteroom 
of the cham ber. The health subcom m it­
tee chairm an. Senator Edward Kennedy, 
glanced quizzically at the three o f us 
hunched over the sketch as he hurried 
through the anteroom . (Schweiker, as 
a courtesy, had written a note to Ken­
nedy prior to calling on the Church Com ­
m ittee to  estab lish  a special subcom ­
mittee to investigate President Kennedy’s 
murder. Senator K ennedy’s reaction was 
not negative , w hich S chw eiker in te r­
preted as a signal to go ahead.)

Schw eiker looked at the sketch. At 
first he m um bled, “ T hat’s pretty goo d ,”  
as if com m enting on the quality o f the 
artwork. Then he said, “ I ’ve seen that 
face befo re .”

Newhall and I laughed. For an instant 
we both thought he was being kiddingly 
glib. But Schweiker was serious. “ That’s 
a very fam iliar face ,”  he said, staring 
at the sketch. “ Perhaps . . . maybe it 
was someone from State who briefed me 
on som ething recently. W e’ve been get­
ting a lot o f  th o se .”  He paused and 
thought a bit. “ No, maybe n o t.”  He 
kept staring at the sketch. “ H e’s very 
fam iliar,”  he said.

“ Does it look like H arvey?”  asked 
Newhall. W illiam Harvey had been cited 
by the Church Com m ittee as the C IA ’s 
coordinator in its Castro assassination 
plots with the M afia.

“ No, it’s not Harvey,”  Schweiker said. 
Finally he sighed. “ I ’ve got to get back 
to the hearing ,”  he said. “ W hy don ’t 
you take a copy down to the Com mittee 
staff? I ’ll give it more thought la te r.”

T he In te llig en ce  C o m m ittee  s ta ff  
worked out o f  a sprawling arrangement 
o f cubicles on the ground floor o f the 
old Dirksen Office Building. Newhall 
and I signed in at the security desk and 
a staff attorney who had been working 
w ith S chw eiker on the K ennedy sub ­
com m ittee em erged from the inner re- 
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cesses. W e showed him the sketch. He 
looked at the photograph. “ F ine ,”  he 
said. “ T hat’s f in e .”  He gave no indi­
cation that the sketch rem inded him of 
anyone in particular. He took a copy of 
it and, I assum e, stuck it in the Com ­
m ittee’s classified files.

That night I flew back to M iami. It was 
a Friday early in A pril, about a month 
alter my first interview with Veciana. 
During that interval I had spoken with 
him more than a dozen tim es. 1 had two

“ The problem,” 
Veciana sighed as he 
flipped through the 

mug shots, “ is that all 
these individuals look 
like criminals. Bishop, 

he was a gentleman. 
He looked like 
a gentleman.”

more interviews with him during which 
I tried to extract every possible detail he 
could recall about Maurice Bishop. More 
im portant, we began to establish a re­
lationship. I would drop in at his home 
and call him on the telephone frequently 
just to ask a question or two about a 
m inor detail. We also got to know each 
other better as we traveled back and forth 
to W ashington and around M iami to the 
sites where he recalled meeting Bishop. 
From those interviews and discussions, 
I began to accum ulate not only a struc­
tured image o f  M aurice Bishop as an 
intelligence operative— the hard data of 
his character and activities— but also a 
sense o f the man him self as Veciana saw 
him.

At that point, this is what I knew about 
M aurice Bishop:

He was in Havana in the sum m er of 
1960 when Veciana first met him. He 
was working undercover, probably using 
some business association or firm as a 
front. He may have had a relationship 
with some business in the building where 
Veciana was given his training instruc­
tion, maybe with the Am erican mining 
com pany or the Berlitz language school. 
Bishop was fam iliar with personnel at 
the Am erican Em bassy. He appeared to 
be a specialist in propaganda, psycho­
logical warfare, and counterintelligence.

Considering the character o f his Span­
ish , he p robab ly  had been fo rm ally  
schooled in the language and even before 
arriving in Havanna he probably had spent 
tim e in a Spanish-speaking country. He 
was very intelligent, very literate, very 
articulate. He w as, as Veciana put it, a 
gentleman, perhaps from the South, more 
likely from Texas.

The Church Com m ittee had discov­

ered that there had been secret operations 
and ultra-sensitive missions conducted 
outside the C IA ’s normal chain o f com ­
mand. Given that. Bishop may have been 
am ong a select group within the Agency 
and, as such, trusted enough to be given 
an “ un o ffic ia l”  C astro-assassination  
m ission. Because V eciana’s activities in 
the late ’60s began to broaden beyond 
Cuban affairs and encom pass other anti­
com m unist operations in Latin Am er­
ica, it also appeared likely that Bishop 
had moved up the A gency’s executive 
ladder.

At the tim e of the Kennedy assassi­
nation, Bishop appeared to be particu­
larly knowledgeable about intelligence 
operations in M exico City. He not only 
was aware o f  O sw ald’s activities there 
but also knew that V eciana’s cousin was 
a Castro intelligence officer in the Cuban 
Em bassy in M exico City.

By the early ’70s, Bishop had broad­
ened his interests and contacts through­
out Latin America. B ishop’s role in the 
1971 C astro -assassina tion  attem pt in 
Chile, his ability to reach key military 
personnel there, indicated he had a spe­
cial relationship in that country. The week 
before we constructed  the com posite 
sketch o f Bishop, I wrote a memo to 
Schw eiker ind icating  w hat I initially  
thought would be primary areas o f  in­
vestigation. The m emo noted: “ Veciana 
strongly believes that Bishop had som e­
thing to do with the downfall o f Allende 
in C h ile .”

Finally, another indication of Bishop’s 
position  in m ore recen t years derived 
from the large am ount o f money that 
Veciana said Bishop paid him at the end 
o f their relationship in 1973. Bishop had 
to be in a position to have access to such 
funds and, perhaps, also have the power 
to cover them— or be in association with 
someone who did.

On Sunday evening the weekend I re­
turned from W ashington after the com ­
posite sketch was draw n, I received a 
call from Dave Newhall. He said he had 
ju s t gotten  a call from  S chw eiker in 
Pennsy lvania . “ The boss was driving 
home when he suddenly remembered who 
the guy in the sketch reminded him o f ,”  
Newhall said. “ He stopped the car and 
called me from a phone boo th .”

The sketch o f  M aurice B ishop re ­
minded Senator Schweiker o f David Atlee 
Phillips.

David Phillips had com e before the Sen­
ate Intelligence Com m ittee on more than 
one occasion. The Com mittee was in­
terested especially in two phases of Phil­
lips’s career: One was as head o f the 
C IA ’s task force to prevent the election 
of Salvador Allende in Chile; the other 
was his role as chief o f the A gency’s 
unit in M exico City responsible for send­
ing to the W arren Com mission photo­
graphs o f a man erroneously identified 
as Lee Harvey Oswald.

Phillips had announced his retirement, 
after 25 years o f service with the CIA, 
in the spring o f  1975. At the tim e, the
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The com posite sketch of M aurice Bishop, the elusive American spym aster. 
Senator Schweiker was the first to say whom he thought the sketch 
resem bled: David Atlee Phillips.

The Church Committee 
discovered that 
there had been 

ultra-sensitive missions 
conducted outside 
the CIA’s normal 

chain of command. Given 
that, Bishop may have 

been given an 
“unofficial” Castro- 

assassination mission.

nation was being stirred by a barrage o f 
press revelations about the illegal activ­
ities o f the intelligence agencies. Ve- 
ciana was still in prison and not yet up 
for parole. Phillips called a press con­
ference at his retirem ent and announced 
he would lead an association o f retired 
in te lligence officers in defense o f  the 
CIA.

A ccording to Phillips, one of the m a­
jo r factors that led to his retirem ent was 
“ the rash o f  sensational headlines in the 
world press that leave the im pression the 
CIA is an organization of unprincipled 
people who capriciously interfere in the 
lives o f US citizens at home and abroad.” 
He said he wanted to “ straighten out the 
record . ’ ’

Newhall is usually a laconic man, but 
there was an edge in his voice that eve­
ning he called to tell me about Schweiker 
hom ing in on David Phillips. “ The boss 
thinks the resem blance is pretty damn 
c lo se ,”  he said. He asked if I could dig 
up an old newspaper clip o f Phillips’s 
press conference and show the photo in 
it to Veciana.

The next m orning I checked the date 
o f the press conference, picked up a back 
issue o f the M iam i H erald , and went to 
V eciana’s place. He w asn’t home. His 
wife said she d idn’t expect him back 
until evening and d idn’t know how to 
reach him. I returned home to another 
call from Newhall.

“ W e've found a good photo of Phil­
lips in the June 23 issue of People m ag­
az in e ,”  he said. “ It did a feature about 
his form ing that retired -in telligence- 
agents group. Do you think you can pick 
up a copy?”  I said I would try because 
the H erald  photo, a wire-service repro­
duction. was a poor one. However, after 
trying several sources. I couldn’t locate 
that back issue o f People. The public 
library had already put it into a bound 
vo lum e. B ecause it ap peared  that 1 
w ouldn’t be able to get a reproduction 
o f the article until the next day, I decided 
I would call Veciana and ask him to join 
me at the public library the next m orn­
ing. W e could look at the m agazine in 
the bound volum e together.

That evening, while waiting to talk 
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with V eciana, I glanced at the story that 
appeared in the H erald  when Phillips 
announced his retirem ent. There were 
scant details about his background. It 
noted that he had once been a profes­
sional actor, had been recruited by the 
CIA when he edited an English-language 
newspaper in Chile in the early 1950s, 
had been assigned posts in M exico and 
Venezuela, and had been working un­
dercover in Cuba when Castro took over. 
Later he was CIA propaganda chief for 
the Bay o f  Pigs invasion.

P h illip s re tired  before the C hurch  
Com m ittee was formed and before the 
CIA adm itted to some o f the activities 
that would later get the Com m ittee its 
headlines. In defending the Agency at 
his press conference, Phillips vigorously 
denied charges about the CIA that were 
around at the time. The CIA did not 
financially support the strikes that led 
to A llen d e’s overth row , he declared . 
Also, he said, the CIA never plotted the 
assassination o f  Fidel Castro. Phillips's 
final point: He said he assumed that many 
would claim  his retirem ent was phony

and that the association he was forming 
was really a CIA operation. “ It is n o t."  
he declared. The facts would later in­
dicate he was wrong on at least two out 
o f those three contentions.

When 1 contacted Veciana that eve­
ning he said he did not know the name 
“ David P h illips" o r remember seeing 
photographs of the man. He said he would 
com e to the public library with me the 
next m orning. “ I will call Dr. Abclla 
and ask him to com e with us a lso ,”  he 
said. “ Then we can do two th ings.”

In talking with Veciana over the pre­
vious weeks about the Kennedy assas­
sination. it appeared that for the first 
time he was becom ing interested in some 
o f the details. One day he told me he 
had been talking with a close friend. Dr. 
Manuel Abella, about the assassination. 
He said Abella mentioned having seen 
a photograph o f the crowd in Dealey 
Plaza just prior to the assassination. He 
thought the photo was in Life  or Look; 
he w asn’t sure. Abella said that in the 
crow d he recognized a man he knew 
from Cuba as a Castro agent. 1 had spo-
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A ntonio Veciana intently studied this People m agazine photograph of David 
Atlee Phillips to determ ine whether he was M aurice Bishop. He finally 
spoke: “ It is close, but it is not h im .'’

ken with Abella and checked back issues 
of the magazines he suggested, but didn't 
find the crowd shot he described. Ve­
ciana had said that someday he would 
take Abella to the library and help him 
search for the m agazine. Now Veciana 
saw our visit to the library as an oppor­
tunity to do that also.

The next morning Dr. Abella, a cigar- 
chom ping, pudgy little man, was w ait­
ing with Veciana at his home. We drove 
downtown to the Dade County Public 
Library in Bayfront Park, the site of the 
ever-burning Torch of Freedom donated 
by M iami’s Cuban exile community. That 
m orning there was a dem onstration in 
progress at the Torch. A shouting group 
o f masked Iranian students was calling 
for the ouster o f the Shah. Veciana looked 
at them , smiled slightly, and shook his 
head. He w as used to m ore forceful 
expressions o f dissent.

At the periodical desk 1 asked for the 
bound volum e o f People with the Phil­
lips article and for the volumes of Life 
and Look with issues that might have 
crowd photos o f Dealey Plaza. We took

them to an em pty table at one end o f the 
room. Veciana sat down and put on his 
glasses. I stood beside him and found 
the article about Phillips in People. There 
was a half-page black-and-white photo 
of him standing under a highway sign, 
near Langley. The sign said: c ia  n e x t  
r ig h t . Phillips was depicted almost full- 
figure, casually dressed in a guayabera, 
standing with his hands in his pockets. 
The resem blance to the Bishop sketch 
was clear: The square jaw , the distinctive 
lower lip, the straight nose, the forehead, 
and. yes, the darkened area under the 
eyes. Only the hair was different.

V eciana looked at the photo . And 
looked at the photo. 1 watched his face 
for som e reaction, but there was none. 
He kept staring at the photo. “ Is it h im ?”  
I asked. Veciana d idn’t answer. His face 
was totally expressionless, but his eyes 
w ere in tensely  focused on the photo. 
Finally, he turned the page of the m ag­
azine. There were two more photos o f 
Phillips, both sm aller and both showing 
P h illip s’s face less d irec tly . V eciana 
turned back to the larger photo. “ Is it

him ?”  I asked again. Almost half a minute 
had passed and the suspense was press­
ing on me. W ithout taking his eyes from 
the photo, he said: “ It is c lo se .”

I wanted to shout at him: It is close? 
What the hell do you mean, it is d o se !  
Is  it him or isn ’t it him? I leaned closer 
and asked again softly: “ Is it h im ? ”  
Veciana did not take his eyes o ff  the 
photo. “ Does he have a brother?”  he 
asked. T he question  took me aback. 
“ I d o n 't  k n o w ,”  I said, “ but is he 
Bishop?”  Veciana finally shook his head. 
“ It is close, but it is not h im .”  I felt 
relief at the end o f the suspense. “ Are 
you sure it’s not h im ?”  I asked. “ No, 
it’s not h im ,”  Veciana said again. W ell, 
I thought, that sounds pretty definite, 
and turned to the volumes that Dr. Abella 
was waiting to look through. Then Ve­
ciana, still looking at the photo, added: 
“ But I would like to talk with h im .”  

“ You would like to talk with Phil­
lip s?”  I asked , not getting his point. 
“ Do you think Phillips is Bishop?”  

“ No, he is not Bishop,” Veciana said, 
“ but he is CIA  and m aybe he could 
help .”

M aybe he could, I thought, and turned 
to help Abella, who was leafing through 
the other volum es looking for the crowd 

$ shot with the Castro agent. Abella had 
5 described the photo precisely, but it was 
a in neither L ife  nor Look. Then Abella 
u said that m aybe it was in Argosy or True,
0 because he rem em bered articles about 
|  the Kennedy assassination in those mag- 
< azines. So I went to get the bound vol- 
^ umes of those publications and we began
1 looking through them. Again we had no 
? luck. V eciana, m eanw hile , rem ained 
i  seated at the table staring at the photo 
|  o f David Phillips.
O

Before the Schw eiker investigation came 
to a close, more than a dozen individuals 
had been considered , how ever fleet- 
ingly, as being the man who called him ­
self M aurice Bishop. M ost o f them came 
to our attention because o f their involve­
ment in anti-Castro activity. The staff 
o f  the Senate In telligence C om m ittee 
continued to look for Bishop mostly in 
the area o f Arm y Intelligence, despite 
my trying to make clear to them that 
Veciana very much doubted that Bishop 
was with the military.

I continued to show Veciana photo­
graphs o f individuals sent to me by the 
C om m ittee s ta ff  and o thers I dug up 
m yself. Som e bore a closer resemblance 
to the sketch than others, but none came 
as close as David Phillips. Occasionally* 
Veciana would mention that. Sometimes 
he would add, “ W ell, you know , maybe 
it would help if I could talk with h im .”  

We began considering the possibility 
of bringing Veciana together with Phil­
lips in a direct confrontation. The C om ­
mittee staff, how ever, had decided not 
to call Phillips back for additional ques­
tioning under oath, so w hatever we did 
we had to do on our own and unoffi­
cially.

We did not have the opportunity to 
have V eciana confront Phillips until Sep-
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As the Church 
Committee was winding 
down, it became clear 
that only a sensational 

new revelation could force 
it to reopen a full- 
scale investigation.

tem ber, ju st before Schw eiker decided 
to close down his investigation. Between 
my first interview with Veciana and Sep­
tem ber, I felt 1 was on a fast-moving 
train trying to spot a smoking gun in the 
blur o f passing woods. As the Church 
Com m ittee was winding dow n, it be­
cam e clear that only a sensational new 
revelation, sim ple and obvious enough 
for the public to grasp its significance 
instantly, could force the Com m ittee to 
reopen a full-scale Kennedy investiga­
tion. The Veciana lead was a crack in 
the door, but it would take tim e and re­
sources to develop it. I pursued it as best 
1 could. O ver the m onths. I tried to locate 
and talk  w ith everyone V eciana had 
nam ed. W e had lim ited resources, be­
cause S ch w eik er’s s ta ff  budget d id n 't 
include travel and expenses for a Ken- 
nedy-assassination investigation and he 
could not use Com m ittee funds.

At the end o f June 1976, the Senate Se­
lect Com m ittee issued its ‘ ‘final report’ ’: 
B ook V— The Investiga tion  o f  the A s ­
sassination o f  President John F . K en­
nedy: Perform ance o f  the Intelligence 
A g e n c ie s . T h e  p re s s  c a lle d  it th e  
Schw eiker report. Dave M arston had air- 
expressed an advance copy to me the 
night before Schw eiker was scheduled 
to release it at a press conference. I thought 
the report had historical significance as 
the first official confirm ation o f the in­
validity o f the W arren Com m ission re­
port. 1 objected, how ever, to its over­
em phasizing the possibility o f the Ken­
nedy killing being a Castro retaliation 
sim ply on the basis o f  the W arren Com ­
mission not having been inform ed o f the 
C IA ’s Castro-assassination plots. 1 was 
discussing that with M arston on the tele­
phone the next afternoon when Schw eik­
er returned from his press conference. 
M arston asked Schw eiker to pick up the 
line. “ W e’ve got one o f your standard 
skeptics here. S enato r,’’ he said.

“ I thought all our skeptics were at the 
new s co n fe ren ce!”  Schw eiker said in 
mock anguish.

I congratulated him on the report but 
told him  I thought that critics o f the 
W arren Com m ission were going to have 
a legitim ate objection. “ How could the 
Com m ittee have failed to pursue the pos­
sible relationship o f Oswald to the in­
telligence agencies,”  I asked, “ when 
the C om m ittee d iscovered  the in te lli­
gence agencies admitted a cover-up with 
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the W arren C om m ission?”
“ B ecause,”  said Schweiker, “ they 

took the position that they had no rela­
tionship with Oswald. And there were 
no docum ents in their files, they said, 
which revealed that there was. We pressed 
them on that several times and each time 
they said they had nothing. We hit a 
blind alley. 1 don’t disagree with you, 
but considering the type o f probe the 
Com m ittee was conducting and the lim­
ited access to the intelligence agencies’ 
files, there was not much we could do 
about i t .”

Despite the direction that the Schwei­
ker report had taken and the public at­
tention it had received, Schweiker wanted 
me to keep quietly pursuing the Veciana 
lead. He said he d idn’t know how long 
he could continue such an unofficial in­
vestigation, but he felt there were still 
many things we could do. even on our 
ow n, before we gave up.

Late in July, I wrapped up a trip to 
Puerto Rico and flew back to Miami. 1 
cam e back with some new inform ation, 
found a few o f the witnesses I had been 
looking for, and had a long and fruitful 
conversation with M anolo Ray, the head 
o f the anti-Castro organization Veciana 
had originally joined in Cuba and. later, 
the founder o f JU R E, to which Silvia 
Odio had belonged. I was tired and drag­
ging my way through Miami Airport when 
1 noticed the headlines on the newsstand. 
T he R ep u b lican s w ere ho ld ing  the ir 
presidential convention in Kansas City. 
And Ronald Reagan, though not yet the 
p a rty ’s nom inee, had chosen R ichard 
Schw eiker as his vice presidential run­
ning mate.

The next m orning 1 was on the line 
with Troy G ustavson, then Schw eiker’s 
press secretary. (W ith Marston getting 
ready to move to Philadelphia— Schwei­
ker had him selected as US attorney for

the region— G ustavson was taking over 
as the K ennedy lia ison .) “ 1 im agine 
you’ve seen the papers,”  he said. “ Were 
you flabbergasted?”  That was a good 
word. “ W e all w ere ,”  he said. “ Only 
Schw eiker and Newhall knew about it 
since Tuesday. Schweiker was on va­
cation in New Jersey when he got the 
call from Reagan’s campaign manager, 
w ho said he w anted to  m eet him  in 
W ashington. The Senator and Newhall 
kicked it around and decided it was the 
last chance for the moderate wing o f the 
party . S chw eiker’s really  psyched up 
about i t .”

I wondered what it meant in terms of 
Schw eiker continuing a Kennedy-assas- 
sination investigation. “ I don’t know ,”  
G ustavson said. “ I haven’t had a chance 
to discuss it with him. I know he really 
has a sincere passion for it, but 1 think 
a lot will depend on w hether Reagan and 
he get the nom ination. I think he’s going 
to question the propriety o f continuing 
it because it’s autom atically politicized 
as soon as he becom es a candidate.”  

W e decided we should continue with 
the investigation until Schweiker him ­
self called us off.

By early Septem ber, however, there 
w ere ind ications that S chw eiker’s at­
tem pt to  conduct a one-m an investi­
gation into the assassination had gone 
about as far as it could. Reagan had not 
received the Republican nomination in 
Kansas City, and Schweiker returned to 
W ashington very depressed. I believe it 
led him to reevaluate his role in public 
life. Then, too, partially as a result of 
the Schw eiker report, the ground swell 
for a new investigation into the Kennedy 
assassination was beginning to build in 
the House o f Representatives. If the House 
wanted to investigate the Kennedy as­
sassination, Schw eiker had decided, he 
would end his efforts.

W hen Ronald Reagan tapped Richard Schweiker to be his vice-presidential 
running m ate in a desperate attempt to secure the 1976 Republican 
presidential nom ination, Schweiker abandoned his one-man investigative 
efforts to unravel the Kennedy assassination.
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The JFK Assassination:
A ‘Great White Whale’?
I write to set the record straight, at least 
insofar as a two-page letter can ade­
quately respond to an 80,000-word ar­
ticle, Gaeton Fonzi’s “ Who Killed JFK?” 
[November 1980].

Mr. Fonzis thesis is that the inves­
tigation of the House Select Committee 
on Assassinations was a fraud. For those 
who care about the truth, I refer them 
to the committee's 686-page final report 
and its accompanying 27 volumes of sup­
porting hearings and related materials. 
They speak for themselves.

But Mr. Fonzi goes beyond a general 
characterization of the public portion of 
the committee's work and levels a num­
ber of specific charges against me per­
sonally. Each of them is either simply 
false or, worse, a half-truth that misleads 
by what it omits. Their publication with­
out giving me an opportunity to respond 
was shoddy journalism.

To note one example: Mr. Fonzi sug­
gests that I came to the investigation 
professionally biased, believing that or­
ganized crime had had a hand in the 
President’s death. Not true. In fact, I 
personally thought it highly unlikely that 
a conspiracy had led to the assassination 
and that, if it had, it would not have 
included organized crime, as the assas­
sination of the President would have been 
too risky a venture for the mob. Never­
theless, I did not let my personal feelings 
affect my professional conduct.
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Subject to inevitably finite resources, 
the com m ittee's investigation was, 
therefore, structured to pursue all con­
spiracy hypotheses, including, most im­
portantly, official involvement, whether 
domestic or foreign, as well as those 
embracing a variety of other relevant 
groups within our society, not excluding 
organized crime.

To take another example: Mr. Fonzi 
quotes me as saying that the committee's 
investigation was going to be the Mast 
investigation,” as if I had arrogantly 
believed that no one could add to or sub­
tract from anything that I directed. A 
half-truth. In fact, I said it would be the 
last investigation unless it resulted in a 
major breakthrough that radically changed 
the view not only of the American people 
hut also of its governmental leaders about 
those tragic events in Dallas seventeen 
years ago. If so, we then had the rea­
sonable expectation that the Department 
of Justice would reopen the investigation 
and bring our congressional efforts to a 
lawful conclusion in a judicial forum.

On that score, I readily concede that 
I turned out to he wrong. We did make 
a major breakthrough—the development 
of scientific and other evidence showing 
two shooters in the plaza—but nothing 
that the Department of Justice has done 
since our final report shows any sign of 
a willingness on its part to reopen the 
investigation.

I have, however, neither the time nor 
the inclination to respond to each of Mr. 
Fonzi’s misstatements of fact or distor­
tions of the truth. Suffice it to say that 
he was not hired by me, as he was so 
lacking in professional objectivity that 
I would never have employed him in the 
first instance. As an investigator for Sen­
ator Richard Schweiker, he had come 
upon a lead that purported to connect 
Lee Harvey Oswald to the CIA. He was 
convinced that he had the answer to the 
meaning of the President's death. (Staff 
members derisively referred to him as 
an “ Ahab” and to his quest as a search 
for “ Moby Dick.” )

Nonetheless, I decided to retain him 
because I thought that his obsession would 
help assure that his aspect of the com­
mittee's investigation (Mr. Fonzi was 
but one investigator on one of two teams 
of lawyers, researchers, and investiga­
tors working on Oswald leads; he headed 
neither team) would receive its full due. 
In fact, it consumed a significant portion 
of our resources—personnel, money, and 
time.

The committee’s investigation failed 
to find Fonzi s ‘‘Great White Whale,” 
not because we—Fonzi and 1—did not 
try but because the evidence was not 
there. Mr. Fonzi’s article, in short, is

not the truth about the committee's in­
vestigation hut a sad self-revelation of 
a single man's monomania.

G. Robert Blakey 
Professor of Law 

Notre Dame Law School 
Notre Dame, Indiana 

(Blakey was chief counsel and staff di­
rector of the House Select Committee on 
Assassinations.)

Gaeton Fonzi replies: It’s unfortunate 
that Professor Blakey's response should 
deteriorate into personal invective while 
failing to address the main thrust of the 
article: that the Assassinations Commit­
tee's effort was not a “ full and complete 
investigation” as mandated by congres­
sional resolution; that Blakey himself 
directed that the scope and nature of the 
inquiry be limited and the priority be 
given not to conducting a valid investi­
gation but to producing a report; and that 
the committee did not sufficiently pursue 
evidence indicating a relationship be­
tween the CIA and Lee Harvey Oswald.

I, too, urge those who have read the 
article also to read the committee's report 
and its accompanying volumes. (I do, 
however, think it odd that the professor 
should now contend that the report and 
its volumes “ speak for themselves,” 
when he felt it necessary upon leaving 
the committee to write his own hook 
amplifying the report's suggested con­
tention that organized crime killed Pres­
ident Kennedy.)

I was not aware that my fellow staff 
members viewed my efforts with deri­
sion, but perhaps the chief counsel was 
more privy than I to their candid opin­
ions. (Those with whom 1 have spoken 
since the article’s publication expressed 
appreciation of it.) It's true that I was 
not hired by Blakey, but the professor 
had the option of firing me when he first 
arrived—as he did some staffers whose 
backgrounds dissatisfied him—or later, 
when he abruptly dismissed the hulk of 
the investigative staff as a result of a 
sudden “ budget crunch.” Blakey not 
only retained me, but he also did, in fact, 
make me an acting team leader in his 
effort to meet the report deadline. That's 
attested to in the record of attribution for 
almost all the reports in Appendix Vol­
ume X.

Blakey accuses me of “ monomania” 
and terms my determination to find an 
answer to the murder of President Ken­
nedy an “ obsession.” My view of the 
assassination of a President is basic: I 
believe it was a violation of our demo­
cratic system and it warranted—and still 
warrants—a full and complete investi­
gation. If that's an “ obsession,” so be 
it. I regret the professor does not feel as 
strongly. I stand by the article.

https://ratical.org/GaetonFonzi




